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Management Report 

 
We present the Management Report and the Financial Statements of Banco Safra S.A. and its Subsidiaries (ìSafra Consolidatedî) for 
the periods ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS). 
 
 
1 ñ ECONOMIC SCENARIO 
 
In 2015 the Brazilian economy went through some important adjustments in relation to the macroeconomic scenario, with some 
progresses in the tax condition, despite the primary deficit, and with realignment of prices like foreign exchange rate and 
administered prices. Notwithstanding this fact, the economy remained weak, with the GDP contracting by 2.5% in the four quarters 
previous to the third quarter of 2015. In this scenario, the labor market deteriorated, with average unemployment rate reaching 
6.8%.  
 
Inflation in 2015 accumulated a high at 10.7%, especially because of the strong adjustment to administered prices (concentrated in 
the first half of the year) and by the movement of foreign exchange rate depreciation. Because of this scenario, the Brazilian Central 
Bank raised the Selic rate (the countryís base rate) to 14.25% in July, ending the cycle of tight monetary policy and giving signs that 
the interest rate would remain in the same level for a sufficiently prolonged period.  
 
In relation to fiscal accounts, there were some progresses in both recomposition of revenues (with reversal of some unburdens), 
revision of social benefit rules and investment cuts. But the revenue below the expected level and the full settlement of expenses for 
previous years led to a primary deficit of 1.9% of the GDP in 2015 or -R$ 111.2 billion.  
 
To continue providing foreign exchange hedge and liquidity to the foreign exchange market, the Brazilian Central Bank fully renew 
the stock of foreign exchange swaps, the stock standing at US$ 108.2 billion at the end of December. The real closed 2015 traded at 
R$ 3.96/US$. The currency flow, on the other hand, ended the year with an inflow of US$ 9.4 billion, expressing the enormous 
improvement in the balance of current transactions, which deficit fell from US$ 104.2 billion in 2014 to US$ 58.9 billion, the steepest 
fall in the time series data. Such change mainly reflected the significant improvement in the balance of trade, which showed in 2015 
a surplus of US$ 17.7 billion, as compared to the deficit of US$ 6.6 billion in the previous year. 
 
In the international scenario, we highlight the raise in interest rates by the US Federal Reserve (the Fed), nine years and a half after 
the last increase and eight years since the collapse of Lehman Brothers, expressing the Fedís conviction about the soundness of the 
economy. The base rate was raised from the range of 0-0.25% to the range of 0.25-0.50%. The signs given by the monetary 
authority pointing to a gradual normalization of the monetary policy received a quiet response from the market as it was long 
awaited. The European Central Bank (ECB), on the other hand, added monetary stimulus to the Euro Zone in December by 
expanding the asset purchase program and cutting even further the deposit rates, in the attempt to limit the fall in inflation in the 
region. In China, the economy continued to show a slower growth rate as compared to those recorded in recent years, with a high 
in the GDP of 6.9% in 2015, responding to the change in the mix of growth in the country, where the focus shifted from industrial 
activity and investment to consumption and the service sector. In view of the economy slowdown, the government added monetary 
stimulus, cutting the interest rate in October. 
 
 
 
 
 



3 

 

2 - PERFORMANCE 
 

Key Indicators  
 
The following table shows the key indicators of Banco Safra in the periods ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, in accordance with 
the IFRS. 
 

Profitability ñ R$ million (unless otherwise stated) 2015 2014 Change 
(%) 

Profit of the Parent Company 1,440 1,445 -0.3% 
Equity of the Parent Company 9,961 9,965 - 
Return on average equity (%) Annualized  14.5% 15.3%  
Return on average assets (%) 1.0% 1.0%  
Credit ratios (%)    
Delinquency ratio (over 90 days) 1.5% 0.7%  
ALL / Credit Portfolio 3.8% 2.0%  
Statement of financial position ñ R$ million (unless otherwise stated)    
Total assets 152,953 144,101 6.1% 
Expanded credit operations 75,807 76,928 -1.5% 

Credit operations  49,705 55,782 -10.9% 
Guarantees and sureties 19,177 16,432 16.7% 
Other credit risk instruments  6,925 4,714 46.9% 

Unrestricted, Funded and Managed Assets (7) 193,160 174,648 10.6% 
Material Data    
Conglomerate employees (individuals) 5,752 5,824 -1.2% 
Number of branches (units) 110 109  
Number of Points of Banking Services (PAB) (units) 20 19  

 
 
Results 
 
Banco Safra ended the year of 2015 with profit of R$ 1.4 billion and annual return of 14.5% on average equity. 
  
The Bank continued to carry out its conservative policy on its business, in both credit management and allowance and liquidity 
levels, the latter being maintained at very confortable levels. In funding, it continued to devote special attention to Individuals and 
Corporate Investors, aiming at highly diluting funding sources, as well as extend the period the funds remain in the bank. 

Net interest income reached R$ 4.8 billion in 2015 and gross profit reached R$ 4.0 billion. The revenue from insurance and private 
pension operations reached R$156 million at the end of 2015. Net losses with credit risk amounted to R$ 1.4 billion at the end of the 
year 2015. Revenue from fees and commission totaled R$ 1.2 billion.  

We present below a summary of the proforma statement of profit or loss, adjusted by the tax effect of the hedge of investments 
abroad: 

 
Proforma Profit or Loss ñ R$ million (unless otherwise stated) 2015 2014 
Net interest income 4,755 3,890 
Net losses with credit risk (1,374) (955) 
Net interest income after net losses with credit risk 3,381 2,935 
Other operating revenue 1,394 1,316 
Gross profit 4,775 4,251 
Other operating income (expenses) (2,830) (2,226) 
Profit before taxes 1,945 2,025 
Income tax and social contribution (505) (579) 
Consolidated profit for the periods attributable to owners of the parent 1,440 1,445 

To improve the understanding of Banco Safra S.A.ís results, the Note 21 ñ Operating Segments is also being presented with the 
adjustment of the tax effect of the hedge of investments abroad.  
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Assets, Liabilities and Managed Assets 

The consolidated assets of Banco Safra totaled R$ 153.0 billion at December 31, 2015 (R$ 144.1 billion at December 31, 2014). 

Consolidated equity reached R$ 10.0 billion in December 2015, which demonstrates a solid support for running its business. The 
Basel ratio stood at 14.8%, comfortably above the 11% required by the Brazilian Central Bank, with 12.3% of Tier I Capital.  

The Bankís liquidity management models, in addition to the cash and cash equivalents shown in Note 5, also take into account the 
high liquidity of unrestricted government securities of its own portfolio and exclude the short-term floating funds, the total liquidity 
being as follows: 

         R$ Million 
 Dec/15 Dec/14 

Cash  6,811 7,428 
Unrestricted government securities ñ own portfolio 16,677 16,631 
Interbank deposits (1) 377 450 
( = ) Cash and cash equivalents ñ expanded 23,865 23,509 
( - ) Collection of taxes and similar (Liabilities) (11) (10) 
( = ) Unrestricted funds ñ Liquidity 23,854 23,499 

(1) Includes transactions with terms no longer than 90 days. 

 

The credit portfolio, without considering guarantees and sureties, responsible for a significant share of the Bankís performance, 
reached R$ 49.7 billion at December 31, 2015. The expanded credit portfolio, including guarantees, sureties and other credit risk 
instruments reached R$ 75.8 billion. Guarantees and sureties grew 16.7% as compared to December 2014, with highlight to the 
increase in operations demanded by corporate segment customers. 

At December 31, 2015, the delinquency ratio of transactions over 90 days past due accounted only for 1.5% of the credit portfolio, 
which confirms the use of best practices and technologies in credit grant and guarantees control, positioning Banco Safra as one of 
the best institutions in the market in credit management. The allowance for loan losses accounted for 3.8% of the credit portfolio 
(2.0% at December 31, 2014).  

Safra adopts a conservative policy on market risk management, implemented by means of a wide range of risk limit tools, 
contemplating metrics such as VaR, Stress and Stop Loss, among others, for all exposures in trading and banking portfolios. 

Unrestricted, raised and managed assets of Banco Safra reached R$ 193.2 billion at the end of December 2015 (R$ 174.6 billion in 
December 2014). It is worth noting the strong growth of 31.5% in resources of investment funds, which reached R$ 53.4 billion at 
December 31, 2015 (R$ 40.6 billion in December 2014).  

Funding has diversified sources, including deposits, open-market funding, fixed-income structured transactions, financial bills, funds 
from acceptance and issue of securities, subordinated debts, borrowings and onlending.  

Banco Safra, an important agent of the National Bank for Economic and Social Development (BNDES), reached R$ 11.4 billion in 
onlending to the productive sector and sureties to projects financed by the BNDES at December 31, 2015. This volume contributed 
to maintain the Bank among the largest financial institutions that onlend this type of funds. 

At December 31, 2015, Banco Safra had 110 branches in Brazil and 20 Points of Banking Services (PABs), located in the main capital 
cities and major cities/hubs of economic development, in addition to two foreign branches (Grand Cayman and Luxembourg), which 
broaden the support for the Brazilian foreign trade. We also highlight the 15 foreign exchange offices located in the main airports in 
Brazil, which offer the exchange of 19 currencies to customers and non-account holders.  
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3 - RATINGS 
 
Banco Safra continues to have the best possible ratings among the financial institutions controlled in Brazil, which are limited to the 
Sovereign rating, by both Standard&Poorís and Moodyís. The agencies downgraded the ratings of the Federative Republic of Brazil to 
Non Investment Grade, and, consequently, the ratings of Brazilian banks.  
 
It is worth noting that the Asset Management rating of J. Safra Asset Management, was affirmed as the ìHighest Standardî, by 
FitchRatings. 

 

                                   
 
         Global Scale                                            Global Scale                 Global Scale 
               BB+                                       Ba3                                         BB 
 
       National Scale                              National Scale                   National Scale 
   Long Term (AAA (bra))                                Long Term (Aa2.br)                Long Term (brAA-) 
 
 
 
4 ñ RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
Banco Safra has a set of rules and procedures to ensure compliance with legal provisions, regulatory standards, best market 
practices and its internal policies. 
 
In the financial statements (note 22) a summary of the Bankís risk management practices is presented. The website of Banco Safra 
(www.safra.com.br) features information on the framework for credit, market and operational risk management, besides the risk 
management report, established by BACEN Circular 3,477/09. 
 
The Audit Committee of the Safra Financial Group is a statutory body that reports to the Board of Directors and operates in 
compliance with the provisions of Resolution 3,198, of May 27, 2004, of the National Monetary Council, and Resolution 312, of June 
16, 2014, of the National Council of Private Insurance. The Safra Financial Group has a sole Audit Committee, which is part of the 
structure of Banco Safra S.A., its leading institution. The Audit Committee shall be formed by a minimum of three and a maximum of 
six members, of which at least three shall be executive officers of the company. 
 
It is also worth noting other corporate committees, the Remuneration and Advisory ones. The Remuneration Committee, which is 
aimed at assisting the Board of Directors in conducting the key management personnel remuneration policy of the Company, under 
the terms of National Monetary Council Resolution 3,921, of 11/25/2010, is formed by a minimum of three and a maximum of five 
members, with two-year term of office, and operates as a sole organizational component in the leading institution of Safra Financial 
Conglomerate. The Advisory Committee has the duty of guiding, assisting and advising the Board of Directors in conducting the 
Companyís businesses, suggesting strategies for the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries in several financial business 
lines. The Advisory Committee may be formed by a minimum of two and a maximum of ten members, with two-year term of office. 

 

 
5 - SUSTAINABILITY 
 
Banco Safra adopts the best sustainability practices in its business. For this purpose, among other measures it monitors the criteria 
and indicators in the credit granting process, besides keeping its commitment to support the Green Protocol. 
 
Among the procedures adopted by Safra for managing social and environmental risk, we highlight that the Legal Department 
included in all loan formalization contracts a clause on the fulfillment of Brazilian legislation on environment, labor matters and 
breach of contracts, to be followed by its customers, guarantors and third-party guarantors. Also of note is the routine analysis 
carried out by the registration area of the list of companies that have had consultations with the regulators, where the following 
social and environmental restrictive clauses are verified, such as the Brazilian Institute of Environment and Renewable Resources 
(IBAMA), Council for Financial Activities Control (COAF), Environmental Sanitation Technology Company (Cetesb), National 
Petroleum Agency (ANP), National Agency for Land Transport (ANTT), the registration of companies and individuals assessed for 
exploitation of slave labor, released by the Ministry of Labor and Employment, at all times following the bank secrecy rules. 
 
It is worth noting that Safra is also dedicated to support social, health, cultural and educational projects. In the social area, it 
supports institutions that provide assistance to people who have low income, learning or physical disabilities, or who need support to 
protect or enforce their rights. The recipient institutions include the União Brasileiro-Israelita de Bem-Estar Social, who helps the 
residents of the central region of the city of São Paulo, and Fundação Dorina Nowill for the blind, which serves and works for the 
social inclusion of people with visual impairment, by producing and distributing free books in Braille, and audio and e-books. 
 
In the health area, Safra works with the Association for Assistance to Disabled Children (Associação de Assistência à Criança 
Deficiente in Portuguese, or AACD), which is dedicated to the well-being of children with special needs, and the Support Group for 
Adolescent and Child with Cancer (Grupo de Apoio ao Adolescente e à Criança com Câncer in Portuguese, or GRAAC), which 
maintains in São Paulo a hospital that is an international reference in Pediatric Oncology. Other examples are the support given to 
Hospital Albert Einstein, Hospital Sírio-Libanês, Hospital do Câncer of Barretos, Hospital AC Camargo and APAE of São Paulo. 
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In the cultural area, the recipient institutions had support to organize exhibitions and donations of artworks, and include, among 
others, the Museum of Modern Art of São Paulo, which has one of the most important collections in Latin America, the Centro de 
Cultura Judaica (Center for Jewish Culture) of São Paulo and Museu do Futebol (Soccer Museum).  
 
Safra created in 1982 a Cultural Project aimed at helping spread and revive ancient and cultural traditions of the country, by 
publishing books on the main Brazilian museums, their collections and facilities. 
 
Every year a new book of the ìBrazilian Museumsî series is released and 34 has been published thus far, with printing of more than 
400,000 copies. In 2014, the 34th volume was about the Museu Oscar Niemeyer, in Curitiba. 
 
The J. Safra Theater aims at providing a quality and diversified program. Bearing in mind the democratization of access to culture, 
the theater offers courses related to the arts, accessible to low-income youth, and workshops on acting in plays (free), drama 
laboratories, etc. The residents of Barra Funda have 50% discount on tickets, offered to promote access to the programs at the J. 
Safra Theater. 
 
Banco Safra, by means of the Brazilian Federation of Banks (FEBRABAN), sponsors nearly 100 scholarships of the ìScience Without 
Borders Programî, a governmental project aimed at encouraging the consolidation, expansion and internationalization of Brazilian 
science and technology, innovation and competitiveness by promoting exchange and international mobility.  
 
The Social and Environmental Risk Management Policy and Structure of Banco Safra is available on the website (www.safra.com.br). 
 
 
6 ñ HUMAN RESOURCES 
 
At the end of December 2015 Banco Safra had 5,752 employees, who are provided with access to high quality medical and dental 
care, educational support, daycare, food basket, access to cultural and social activities promoted by the association of employees, 
among others. 
 
The remuneration of personnel, plus charges and benefits, and not considering the cost of labor contingent liabilities and 
terminations, totaled R$ 1.4 billion in 2015. The expenses with the social benefits provided to employees and their dependents 
totaled R$ 104 million.  Of this amount, we highlight the investments made by Banco Safra in activities for the development and 
training of its employees, which accounted for nearly 4,900 participations in presence and remote training, totaling approximately 
50,500 training hours.  
 
In 2015, Banco Safra invited the applications for the 2016 Trainee Program. After receiving more than 33,000 applications and 
three-month process, the Bank selected 36 professionals to join the company from January 2016 in its several strategic areas. In 
2016, these trainees will participate in a development cycle tailored to each of them, with specific job rotation for each individual, in 
order to train the best professionals to build their careers in the bank. 
 
Additionally, Banco Safra held in July and December a holiday internship program, attracting the students from the best universities 
in the country who for some reason are not able to participate in it during school term. It was the first time that the bank "opened 
its doors" to these students of the "Holiday Internship", thus contributing to the professional development of this group. In these 
two cycles, 20 interns were at the bank. 
 
In relation to new employees, we developed a corporate distance training, which brings up the history of the Safra family, of the 
bank and the legal aspects and benefits that are important to any employee who joins the company. 
 
It is worth mentioning the actions aimed at improving the commercial, administrative and back office area teams, as well as brush 
up and training on mandatory certification courses (CPA ñ Anbima Professional Certification (Series 10 and 20), CGA ñ Anbima 
Managers Certification, and PQO ñ Operational Qualification Program), Anbima Certified Financial Planner (CFP) and Investment 
Specialist (CEA) Certification, besides the Anbima CA-600 and Ombuds Certifications, and investments in undergraduate and 
graduate courses, Master of Business Administration  (MBA) and training programs for disabled people in partnership with the 
Brazilian Federation of Banks (Febraban). 
 
 
7 - ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
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BANCO SAFRA S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES ("SAFRA CONSOLIDATED")

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ALL AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS OF REAIS

Notes  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

 Cash 5 1,264,384                792,417                  

 Interbank investments 6 43,722,648              41,468,949              

 Central Bank compulsory deposits 7 2,290,290                1,438,387                

 Financial assets 8(a) 49,405,065              40,071,674              

    Held for trading 37,849,782              29,701,863              

    Available for sale 11,555,283              10,214,845              

    Held to maturity -                         154,966                  

 Derivative financial instruments 8(b-I(1)) 1,407,199                764,863                  

Credit operations 9(b) 47,548,715              54,575,650              

    At amortized cost 28,846,656              35,317,562              

    At fair value on initial recognition 18,702,059              19,258,088              

 Other financial assets 13 4,497,411                2,730,411                

 Property and equipment 18 152,258                  121,111                  

Intangible assets 18 56,397                    52,393                    

Tax assets 2,158,019                1,685,366                

    Current 17(c-I) 295,136                  398,607                  

    Deferred 17(b-I) 1,862,883                1,286,759                

 Non-current assets held for sale 19 135,821                  120,551                  

 Other assets 16(a) 314,514                  279,463                  

TOTAL ASSETS 152,952,721         144,101,235         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BANCO SAFRA S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES ("SAFRA CONSOLIDATED")

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ALL AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS OF REAIS

Notes  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

 Financial liabilities at amortized cost 109,253,146            109,106,220            

     Deposits 10(a-I) 4,840,176               5,863,707               

     Financial institution deposits and open-market funding 10(a-II) 67,357,024              64,613,456              

     Funds from acceptance and issuance of securities 10(a-III) 20,434,432              21,818,232              

     Borrowing and onlending 10(a-IV) 16,621,514              16,810,825              

 Financial liabilities at fair value on initial recognition 10(b) and 11 9,659,828               6,101,782               

  Deposits 2,991,527               998,680                  

  Financial institution deposits and open-market funding 322,303                  334,329                  

  Funds from acceptance and issuance of securities 5,352,653               3,971,316               

  Fixed-income structured transactions 993,345                  797,457                  

 Derivative financial instruments 8(b-I(1)) 4,539,827               4,743,358               

 Insurance and private pension operations 12(c) 6,572,821               4,743,014               

 Subordinated debt 10(a-V) 5,745,425               4,334,904               

  At amortized cost 2,376,253               2,040,113               

  At fair value 10(b) and 11 3,369,172               2,294,791               

 Other financial liabilities 13 5,001,783               3,165,796               

 Provision for contingent liabilities 15(c) 1,223,975               966,375                  

 Tax liabilities 516,019                  512,453                  

  Current 17(c-II) 314,810                  337,837                  

  Deferred 17(b-II) 201,209                  174,616                  

 Other liabilities 16(b) 478,602                  462,347                  

 Equity attributable to owners of the parent 20 9,961,295               9,964,986               

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 152,952,721         144,101,235         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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BANCO SAFRA S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES ("SAFRA CONSOLIDATED")

ALL AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS OF REAIS UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED

Notes 2015 2014

NET INTEREST INCOME 4,755,404            3,890,268            

Interest income 14(a) 18,060,654          13,834,748          

Interest expenses 14(b) (13,308,515)         (9,951,780)           

Dividend income 8(a-III) 3,265                  7,300                  

NET LOSSES WITH CREDIT RISK (1,374,087)           (955,419)             

Impairment losses and adjustments for credit risk 9(a-II) (1,736,590)           (1,231,597)           

Recovery of credits 9(c) 362,503               276,178               

NET INTEREST INCOME AFTER IMPAIRMENT LOSSES OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

3,381,317          2,934,849          

OTHER OPERATING REVENUE 621,778               1,098,474            

Financial instruments, net (830,533)             (48,016)               

      Held for trading and obligations related to unrestricted securities 14(c) (279,638)             (32,050)               

      Available for sale 8(a-III) (57,644)               412                     

      Derivatives 14(e) (282,955)             (21,657)               

      Fair value hedge of available-for-sale securities 8(d) (8,261)                 17,956                

      Designated at fair value on initial recognition 14(d) (202,035)             (12,677)               

Foreign exchange gains 13(a) 91,521                90,976                

Fees and commissions 14(f) 1,205,147            902,016               

Insurance and private pension operations 14(g) 155,643               153,498               

GROSS PROFIT 4,003,095          4,033,323          

OTHER OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSES) (2,747,318)           (2,202,262)           

Personnel expenses 16(c) (1,613,699)           (1,401,076)           

Administrative expenses 16(d) (646,901)             (623,142)             

Tax expenses 17(a-II) (297,559)             (276,128)             

Other operating income (expenses) 16(e) (189,159)             98,084                

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES 1,255,777          1,831,061          

Income tax and social contribution 17(a-I) 184,605               (385,695)             

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT FOR THE PERIODS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT 1,440,382          1,445,366          

Basic and diluted earnings attributable to the owners of the parent per share, in R$ 3(s) 108.34                100.23                

Profit 1,440,382            1,445,366            

Other comprehensive income that could be subsequently reclassified into profit and loss:

  Available-for-sale financial assets 20(d) 805                     6,424                  

       - Changes in unrealized gains / (losses), net (21,104)               6,661                  

           _ Change at fair value in the period (46,127)               11,576                

           _ Transfer between categories (9,399)                 -                     

           _ Tax effect 34,422                (4,915)                 

       - Realized gains transferred to profit or loss 21,909                (237)                   

          _ (Gain)/Loss on sale of securities 8(a-III) 57,644                (412)                   

          _ Tax effect (35,735)               175                     

 Consolidated comprehensive income for the periods attributable to owners of the parent 1,441,187          1,451,790          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIODS ENDED DECEMBER 31 - NOTE 21
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BANCO SAFRA S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES ("SAFRA CONSOLIDATED")

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE PERIODS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 - NOTE 20

ALL AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS OF REAIS

Realized Unrealized

Equity attributable to 

owners of the parent

At January 1, 2014                        4.362.440                        3.225.198                        1.333.200                           (28.260)                                       -                        8.892.578 

Comprehensive income                                      -                                      -                                      -                               6.424                        1.445.366                        1.451.790 

    Consolidated profit for the period                                      -                                      -                                      -                                      -                        1.445.366                        1.445.366 

    Carrying value adjustment                                      -                                      -                                      -                               6.424                                      -                               6.424 

Allocation:

    Legal reserve                                      -                             77.357                                      -                                      -                           (77.357)                                      - 

    Special reserve                                      -                        1.090.395                                      -                                      -                       (1.090.395)                                      - 

    Unrealized revenue reserves                                      -                                      -                          (101.768)                                      -                           101.768                                      - 

    Interest on capital                                      -                                      -                                      -                                      - (379.382)                                                 (379.382)

At December 31, 2014                        4.362.440                        4.392.950                        1.231.432                           (21.836)                                       -                        9.964.986 

Capital reduction (100.048)                        -                                    -                                                                         - -                                                             (100.048)

 Comprehensive income -                                    -                                    -                                    805                                1.440.382                                              1.441.187 

    Consolidated profit for the period -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    1.440.382                                              1.440.382 

    Carrying value adjustment -                                    -                                    -                                    805                                -                                                                    805 

Allocation:

    Legal reserve -                                                                82.679 -                                    -                                    (82.679)                                                               - 

    Special reserve -                                                              226.076 -                                    -                                    (226.076)                                                             - 

    Unrealized revenue reserves -                                    -                                                             (213.203) -                                    213.203                                                               - 

    Interest on capital -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    (544.830)                                                 (544.830)

    Dividends -                                    -                                    -                                    -                                    (800.000)                                                 (800.000)

At December 31, 2015                        4.262.392                        4.701.705                        1.018.229                           (21.031)                                       -                        9.961.295 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Capital

Carrying value 

adjustment Retained earnings

Revenue reserves
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BANCO SAFRA S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES ("SAFRA CONSOLIDATED")

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE PERIODS ENDED DECEMBER 31- NOTES 3(a) and 5

ALL AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS OF REAIS

NOTES 2015 2014

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

      CONSOLIDATED PROFIT FOR ADJUSTED PERIODS                  3.563.339                  1.878.181 
Consolidated profit for the periods                  1.440.382                  1.445.366 
Adjustments in the consolidated net income for the periods:

Depreciation and amortization 16(d)                      44.249                      48.325 
Impairment losses and adjustments for credit risk 9(b-II)                  1.736.590                  1.231.597 
Foreign exchange gains and losses on cash and cash equivalents                      44.183                   (104.458)

Fair value adjustment - unrealized result                    236.200                    (64.296)

      Held for trading and obligations related to unrestricted securities 8(c)                    (60.874)                      12.918 

      Held for trading 8(c)                    598.125                    205.434 

      Obligations related to unrestricted securities 8(c)                   (658.999)                   (192.516)

      Derivative financial instruments 8(c)                      86.778                    (71.935)

      Fair value hedge of available-for-sale securities 8(c)                        8.261                    (17.956)

      Designated at fair value on initial recognition                    202.035                      12.677 

Provision for contingent liabilities                    282.630                    (99.650)

Investment income/expenses of investment and financing assets and liabilities                    405.057                   (381.701)

      Available for sale 8(a-III)                    188.766                   (523.483)

      Held to maturity 8(a-III)                         (975)                    (15.446)

      Interest on liabilities for marketable securities issued abroad 10(a-III(2))                        1.545                      30.632 

      Interest on subordinated debt 10(a-V(3))                    215.721                    126.596 

Income tax expenses on current and deferred income                   (184.605)                    385.695 

Taxes paid                   (441.347)                   (582.697)

     Current                   (414.697)                   (539.083)

     Tax and social security contingent liabilities and legal obligations 15(d-II)                    (26.650)                    (43.614)

CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES                   (690.001)                (2.981.559)

In short-term investments                    470.950                  2.602.138 
In Central Bank compulsory deposits                   (851.903)                   (243.443)
In financial assets held for trading                (6.622.842)                    319.590 
In derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities)                   (935.652)                   (153.653)
In credit operations                  5.361.566                (2.404.696)
In recovery of credit with assets held for sale 19                    (46.771)                    (50.056)

In deposits                    969.316                    589.083 

In deposits from financial institutions and open market funding                   (423.161)              (10.222.652)

 Own issue                (2.612.606)                  2.257.672 

 Third parties                  2.189.445              (12.480.324)

In borrowing and onlending                   (189.311)                   (321.628)

In funds from acceptance and issuance of securities - Funds from financial bills, bills of credit, and similar notes                   (365.453)                  5.389.896 

In insurance and private pension operations                  1.829.807                  1.077.575 
In current and deferred tax assets and liabilities                      47.177                   (188.274)
In other financial assets and liabilities                      (2.234)                    152.860 

In other assets and liabilities                    (54.466)                    377.816 

In foreign exchange gains and losses on investing and financing activities                    122.976                      93.885 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES                  2.873.338                (1.103.378)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Available-for-sale securities 8(a-III)                (2.202.552)                (4.281.692)
Acquisitions                (5.936.594)              (11.491.548)
Sales/Redemptions                  3.734.042                  7.209.856 

Held-to-maturity securities 8(a-III)                    155.941                        4.927 
Acquisitions                            -                      (50.000)
Sales/Redemptions                    155.941                      54.927 

Acquisition of property and equipment in use 18(b)                    (88.071)                    (37.360)
Disposal of property and equipment in use 18(b)                        2.899                         (236)
Investment in intangible assets 18(b)                    (25.483)                    (22.439)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES                (2.157.266)                (4.336.800)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Funds from acceptance and issuance of securities - Liabilities for marketable securities issued abroad 10(a-III(2-b))                   (166.667)                    601.025 
Funds                        2.124                  1.428.254 
Redemptions                   (168.791)                   (827.229)

Subordinated debt - Funding 10(a-V(3))                    140.798                    993.559 
Interest on capital and dividends paid                (1.263.106)                   (322.475)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1.288.975)               1.272.109                

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (572.903)                 (4.168.069)               

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIODS                7.428.356              11.491.967 
  Foreign exchange gains/losses on cash and cash equivalents                    (44.183)                    104.458 
  Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the periods 5                  6.811.270                  7.428.356 
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (572.903)                (4.168.069)             

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

BOARD OF EXECUTIVE OFFICERS                                                           José Manuel da Costa Gomes
                                                                                                                                             Accountant  - CRC nº 1SP219892/O-0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE IFRS AT DECEMBER 31,� 2015 (ALL AMOUNTS IN 

THOUSANDS OF REAIS UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED) 

1 OPERATIONS 

Banco Safra S.A. and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as "Safra", "Safra Group", or "Bank"), headquartered at Avenida Paulista, 2100, São Paulo - 
SP, Brazil, are engaged in asset, liability and accessory operations inherent in the related authorized lines of business (commercial, including foreign 
exchange, real estate loans, credit, financing and investment, and lease), and complementary activities among which are insurance operations, private 
pension, brokerage and distribution of securities, management of credit cards and investment funds, and managed portfolios, in accordance with current 
legislation and regulations. 

2 PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

a) Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of Banco Safra S.A. at December 31, 2015 approved by the Board of Directors on March 08, 2016 have been 
prepared and are being presented in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) and, for comparison purposes, present the figures for the year ended December 31, 2014. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared considering the historical cost as basis of value, and adjusted to reflect the fair value of 
available-for- sale financial assets and financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (including derivative instruments).  

Their preparation requires the use of certain accounting estimates by Management. The areas involving judgment or the use of estimates, relevant 
for these consolidated financial statements, are shown in Note 4 - "Critical accounting estimates and judgments ". 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared considering lease operations using the financial method. 

b) Main amendments and new pronouncements issued by the IASB 

I - Applicable in future periods 

Safra has not early adopted the new IFRSs and amendments enumerated below, some at the Bank's option and others because such early 
adoption was not established by the IASB: 

- IFRS 9 ñ ìFinancial Instrumentsî, issued in November 2009 and amended in October 2010, introduced, at that time, new requirements for the 
classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities. Subsequently, in November 2013, the requirements applicable 
for the designation of hedge accounting were changed, approximating these requirements to the entities risk management models. Finally, in 
July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of the IFRS 9, incorporating a new expected loss impairment model. 

In this new impairment model of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires that credit losses are recognized through the recognition of a loss allowance, 
which amount should be equal to: 

· the 12-month expected credit losses, resulting from possible default events within the 12-month period after the end of reporting period; and 
· Expected credit loss during the term of the contract, resulting from all possible default events over the life of the financial instrument, which 

is required if the credit risk of the financial instrument increased significantly since the date of initial recognition. This analysis of significant 
increase in the credit risk should be based on the increase in the likelihood of default of the financial instrument. 

In addition, the final version of the IFRS 9 provided a new guide to the classification of financial instruments, which determines the creation of 

three measurement categories of financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss, at amortized cost, and at fair value through other 

comprehensive income. According to this guide, all recognized financial assets that are in the scope of IAS 39 ñ Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement should be subsequently measured in these categories. 

Specifically, debt instruments held based on a business model which objective is to collect contractual cash flows, and which have contractual 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding shall be measured at amortized cost at the end 
of the subsequent accounting periods. 

Debt instruments that are held based on a business model which objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets, as well as investments in equity instruments, are measured at fair value, with recognition of changes in "Other comprehensive 
incomeî. 

The other debt instruments shall be measured at fair value through profit or loss at the end of the subsequent reporting periods. 

Regarding financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, the changes in their fair value attributable to changes in their credit 

risk shall be recognized in "Other comprehensive income", unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the credit risk of the liability in 

"Other comprehensive income" creates or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. 

The final version of IFRS 9 is applicable for years beginning on or after 01.01.2018, and early adoption is permitted. Banco Safra has been 

evaluating the potential impacts of the final version of IFRS 9 on its financial statements. 

- IFRS 15 ñ Revenue recognition ñ establishes how and when entities should recognize their revenues and introduces new disclosure 

requirements on the subject, replacing IAS 18, IAS 11 and Interpretations (IFRICs 13, 15 and 18). The IFRS 15 provides a five-step model 

framework, which entities should use to evaluate the proper recognition of their revenues. The five steps are as follows: 

· Identify the contract that generates the revenue; 
· Identify the established contractual obligations; 
· Determine the transaction price; 
· Allocate the transaction price to each established contractual obligation; 
· Recognize revenue attributed to each contractual obligation when it is met. 

 
The IFRS 15 also provides a guide to the application of the five-step analysis. This standard is applicable to years beginning on or after 
01.01.2017, and early adoption is permitted. Banco Safra has been evaluating the potential impact of IFRS 15 on its financial statements. 
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- Amendment to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements - encourages entities to disclose in their financial statements only information that 
is sufficiently relevant. In addition, it clarifies that the concept of materiality should be applied in the financial statements and notes, as well as in 
any disclosure requirement of the IASB standards. This change is applicable to years beginning on or after 01.01.2016, and early adoption is 
permitted. Banco Safra is evaluating the potential impacts of the amendments to the IAS 1 on its financial statements. 

- Amendment to IAS 7 ñ Statement of Cash Flows ñ establishes new disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate the 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. The standard is effective for years beginning after July 1, 2017. Banco Safra is evaluating 
the potential impacts of this amendment on its financial statements. 

The other amendments and new standards listed below do not exert significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of Safra: 

- IFRS 16 ñ Leases ñ specifies how the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosures of leases should be made in the financial 
statements by applying a single model for the Lessor. 

- Amendment to IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 - Investments in associates and joint ventures - corrects an 
inconsistency between the treatment required by the IFRS 10 and IAS 28; 

- Amendment to IFRS 11 - Joint arrangements - establishes accounting criteria for the acquisition of joint ventures and joint operations. 

- Amendment to IAS 12 ñ Income Taxes ñ provides more details about the recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses, without 
changing the scope of the standard. The standard is effective for years beginning after July 1, 2017.  

- Amendment to IAS 16 ñ Property, Plant and Equipment and to IAS 38 ñ Intangible Assets, establish the principles underlying depreciation and 
amortization as being the pattern of consumption of an assetís expected future economic benefits, prohibiting the use of methods based on 
revenue to calculate an assetís depreciation and amortization. 

II - Applicable to the period ended 12.31.2015 

In 2015, the IAS 19 (R1) came into effect ñ Employee Benefits, establishing that the contribution of employees should be considered by the 

trustee entity in the accounting of defined benefit plans. This standard does not exert impact on the consolidated financial statements of Safra. 

c) Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries are those whose financial and operating policies are determined by Banco Safra S.A., as the latter has their control because it holds 
significant ownership interest and/or has preponderance in decision-making, and has exposure or rights to the variable returns arising from its 
relationship with such subsidiaries. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is gained by Safra and de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

Intercompany transactions, as well as balances and unrealized gains and losses on these transactions were eliminated in the consolidation. The 

accounting policies of subsidiaries have been adjusted to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by Banco Safra S.A. - parent entity. 

The exclusive investment funds were consolidated, including those linked to PGBL and VGBL. In the consolidation process, the securities and 

investments comprising these fund portfolios were classified by transaction type and were distributed by security type into the same categories to 

which they were originally allocated. Non-controlling interests (redeemable quotas) are presented in the statement of financial position in "Other 

financial liabilities" ñ Note 13. 

The entities based overseas, basically represented by the Bank branches in the Cayman Islands and Luxembourg, are consolidated in the financial 

statements. The consolidated balances of these entities, excluding the amounts of transactions among them, were translated at the foreign exchange 

rate ruling at December 31 and are presented below: 

  12.31.2015 

  Assets  Liabilities  Equity  Profit 

Total at 12.31.2015  23,049,739  20,381,273  2,668,466  202,639 

Total at 12.31.2014  17,713,930  15,319,042  2,394,888  96,551 

The main entities comprising the consolidation and the related ownership interests at 12.31.2015 and 2014 are as follows: 

  Ownership interests (%) 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

Banco Safra (Cayman Islands) Limited. (1)  100.00  100.00 

J. Safra Corretora de Valores e Câmbio Ltda.   100.00  100.00 

J. Safra Asset Management Ltda.  100.00  100.00 

Safra Leasing S.A. ñ Arrendamento Mercantil  100.00  100.00 

Banco J. Safra S.A.  100.00  100.00 

Sercom Comércio e Serviços Ltda.  100.00  100.00 

Safra Vida e Previdência S.A.  100.00  100.00 

Safra Seguros Gerais S.A.  100.00  100.00 

SIP Corretora de Seguros Ltda.  100.00  100.00 
(1) Entity based abroad. 
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d) Foreign currency translation 

I.  Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the individual financial statements of subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the entity operates (the "functional currency"). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Brazilian reais (R$), which is the 
functional and presentation currency of the Banco Safra S.A. and its subsidiaries. 

II.  Transactions in foreign currency 

Foreign currency transactions are accounted for, on their initial recognition, in the functional currency, applying the spot foreign exchange rate 
between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the transaction date. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end foreign exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized as gain or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. 

Changes in the fair value of marketable securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available for sale are separated from foreign 
exchange gains or losses and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Foreign exchange gains or losses are recognized in profit or 
loss in the accounts "Interest income" and "Interest expenses" and fair value adjustments are recognized in equity, in the account "Carrying 
value adjustmentsî. 

Foreign exchange gains or losses on financial assets and liabilities classified as held for trading are recognized as part of the net revenue from 
financial instruments held for trading. 

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The significant accounting practices adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are described below: 

a) Cash flows 

I- Cash and cash equivalents: represented by cash and deposits with financial institutions, included in the account "Cash", and open market 

investments, interbank deposits and investments in foreign currencies falling due in 90 days or less, in the account "Interbank investments" with 

an immaterial risk of  fair value variation. Cash equivalents are amounts held for the purpose of settling short-term cash obligations and not for 

investments or other purposes. 

II- Statement of cash flows: prepared based on the criteria set out in IAS 7 - Statement of cash flows, which provides for the presentation of cash 

flows of the entity as those arising from operating, investing, and financing activities, taking into account the following:  

- Operating activities are the main revenue-generating activities of the entity and other activities that are neither investing nor financing 

activities. They include funding for financing financial intermediation and other operating activities that are typical of a financial institution; 

- Investing activities are those related to the buying and selling of long-term assets and other investments not included in cash equivalents, such 
as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity investments; and  

- Financing activities are those that result in changes to the size and breakdown of the entity's and third party capital. They include structured 
funding for financing the entity itself. 

Cash flows from operating activities are presented using the indirect method. Cash flows from investing and financing activities are presented based 
on gross payments and receipts. 

b) Interbank investments 

Investments are initially recognized at fair value, plus transaction costs, and subsequently accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest 

rate. The changes in the results from the difference between purchase and selling prices are recognized as "Interest income (expenses)" over the 

term of the respective contract. 

Specifically regarding transactions in the open market, purchases of financial assets subject to resale agreements are recognized as a financing 

granted, guaranteed by financial asset. Sales of financial assets subject to repurchase agreements are recognized as a financing received, guaranteed 

by a financial asset, and are presented in the statement of financial position in the account "Financial institutions deposit and open-market funding" 

(liabilities). 

c) Financial assets and liabilities 

In compliance with IAS 39 - Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement, Safra designates its financial assets and liabilities in the following 
categories:  

- measured at fair value through profit or loss; 

- available for sale;  

- held to maturity; 

- loans and receivables (credit operations and other financial assets); and 

- measured at amortized cost. 

The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired and the financial liabilities assumed. Management determines 
the classification of its financial assets and liabilities on initial recognition. 

I. Measured at fair value through profit or loss  

- Held for trading 

Financial assets (including derivative transactions) are classified as held for trading if acquired for the purpose of selling in the short term. In 

regard to financial liabilities, this category includes derivative financial instruments liabilities that have not been designated as hedge 
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accounting instruments. Gains or losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities held for trading are presented in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss in the account ìfinancial instruments held for tradingî or ìderivativesî, as applicable, in the period in 

which they arise. The respective transaction costs are recognized as expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

- Designated at fair value on initial recognition 

In the moment of initial recognition, the financial assets and liabilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss, being this designation  
allowed when resulting in information more relevant to the entity, because: 

- eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or 
recognizing the gains and losses on them on different basis; or 

- groups of financial assets and liabilities are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented 
risk management or investment strategy, and information about the group is provided internally to key management personnel. 

 

II. Available for sale 

This category includes non-derivative financial assets, acquired without the purpose of being actively and frequently traded, to be held for an 

indefinite period, and which can be sold for purposes of liquidity or due to a change in interest or foreign exchange rate or share price. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured and recognized at fair value, and gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value are 

recognized directly in a specific account of equity named "Carrying value adjustments", until the financial asset is derecognized. In this case, the 

accumulated gain or loss in the specific account in equity is transferred to the statement of profit or loss in the account of  ìavailable-for-sale 

financial assetsî. Interest and foreign exchange gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognized in the statement of profit or 

loss for the year under "Net interest income". Dividends from equity securities recognized as available-for-sale are also recognized in the 

statement of profit or loss when the right to receive them is established. Interest on available-for-sale financial assets is calculated based on the 

use of the effective interest method. 

III. Held to maturity 

These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and maturities, recorded at cost, plus interest intrinsic to the 

assets, with defined maturities and for which there is positive intention and financial ability to hold these assets to maturity. Subsequently, they 

are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method 

IV. Loans and receivables (credit operations and other financial assets) 

Credit operations classified by Safra in the category "loans and receivables" include loans granted and receivables that are non-derivative 

financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and that are not quoted in an active market. 

These transactions and the financial assets classified in the account "Other financial assets" are initially recognized at fair value, plus transaction 

costs, and subsequently recognized at amortized cost, except those designated at fair value on initial recognition, using the effective interest 

method. 

Gains on these transactions are recognized as "Interest income" over the term of the respective contract. 

V. Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 

All financial liabilities, except derivative transactions and those that, at the entity's option, were designated at fair value on initial recognition, are 

classified in this category. It comprises liabilities that are subsequently adjusted using the effective interest method. 

Interest expenses related to these financial instruments are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the account "Interest 

expenses". 

VI. Effective interest method 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts over through the expected life of the 

financial instrument (or, when appropriate, a shorter period) to the net carrying amount of financial asset or liability. The effective interest rate is 

established on the initial recognition of the financial asset or liability. The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all commissions, 

transaction costs, discounts or premiums that are integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs are incremental costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or financial liability. 

d) Derivative financial instruments 

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value and are periodically remeasured at their fair value with any gains or losses directly recognized in profit 

or loss in the account "Derivatives". They are considered assets when the fair value is positive and liabilities if it is negative. 

The classification of derivatives depends on Safra's intention at the inception of the transaction, also considering whether it is for hedging purposes.  

Derivatives used to hedge exposures to risks or change certain characteristics of financial assets and liabilities and that are: (i) highly related with 

respect to changes in their fair value in relation to the fair value of the hedged item, at the inception and during the term of the contract and (ii) 

considered effective to reduce the risk associated with the exposure to be hedged, are classified as accounting hedge.  

IAS 39 presents three hedging strategies: fair value hedge, cash flow hedge and hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation. 

Safra uses derivatives as fair value hedge. In this case, hedged financial assets or liabilities and the related derivative financial instruments are 

recorded at fair value, with the related gains or losses recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 

The other derivatives that do not qualify as accounting hedge are classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss as "Held for 
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tradingî. 

e) Derecognition of financial instruments 

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from these assets expire, or when substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the instrument are transferred. When substantially all the risks and rewards are not transferred nor retained, Safra assesses 

the control of the instrument in order to determine whether it should be maintained in assets. 

Securities linked to repurchase and assignment of credit with co-obligation are not derecognized because Safra retains substantially all the risks and 

rewards to the extent there is, respectively, a commitment to repurchase them at a predetermined amount or to make payments in the event of 

default of the original debtor of the loan transactions. 

Financial liabilities are derecognized if the obligation is contractually extinguished or settled. 

f) Reclassification of financial assets 

The reclassification of financial assets is permitted only in specific circumstances determined in IAS 39 - Financial instruments: recognition and 

measurement. Reclassifications shall be made at fair value at the event date. This fair value becomes the new cost of the asset and the reversal of 

gains or losses related to the fair value recognized before the reclassification is not permitted. 

g) Presentation of financial instruments at net amounts between assets and liabilities 

A financial asset can only be offset against a financial liability and reported at its net amount in the statement of financial position if Safra has a legal 

right or obligation to offset the recognized amounts and can do it on a net basis, realizing an asset and settling a liability simultaneously. 

h) Impairment of financial assets 

I. Credit operations at amortized cost 

Safra assesses at each end of reporting period of the statement of financial position whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired. The operations considered on an individual basis are also individually assessed. Those operations which 
are not individually significant are collectively assessed. The Bank considers that there is objective evidence of impairment in the following 
situations: 

- Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or debtor; 
- High probability of bankruptcy or composition with creditors or financial reorganization; 
- Breach of contract, such as a default or arrears in interest or principal payments; 
- Debt renegotiation; 
- The disappearance of an active market. 

A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred if: 

- There is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset 
 (a "loss event"); 

- Such loss event (or events) effectively impact the estimated future cash flows of the operation; and  
- The loss can be reliably estimated. 

Safra has a credit risk rating model that assesses the risk of insolvency and default of counterparties, the methodologies and rules of which are 
defined in our internal rules and policies. The main purpose of this credit risk rating model is to rate the likelihood of a customer to become 
default in a fixed time horizon (12 months), called Likelihood of Default (PD), by using objective factors that combine the economic and 
financial information of the customer and its economic group with the accessory guarantees offered for the operations. 

The weighting of objective factors plus the analysis of the coverage percentage of accessory guarantees leads to the customer rating in a scale 
from 1 to 9. This allows the grouping of customers with similar credit risks. 

Aligned with the internal policies and rules mentioned above, which are used to calculate the required provision, the recognition of the 
provision for impairment also takes into consideration several other factors established by Safra, namely: 

- Current economic environment and its trends;  
- Analysis of the economic sectors;  
- Cyclical factors that result in historical losses;  
- Concentration of recent losses;  
- Regional factors that affected specific economic sectors; and  
- Historical loss experience in other circumstances known at the time of the portfolio assessment. 

The methodology to calculate the provision for impairment is periodically assessed by the Credit Management and the Executive Committee. 

When a loan is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the related impairment provision. Such loans are written off after all the 

necessary procedures have been taken and the amount of the loss has been determined. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the loss decreases is objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment recognition (such 

as an upgrade in the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the provision. The amount of 

the reversal is recognized as "Impairment losses (net of recovery) of financial assets" in the statement of profit or loss. 

II. Assets classified as available for sale 

Safra assesses at each end of reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 

impaired. A significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale below its cost is considered to 

determine whether the assets are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured 

as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized 

in profit or loss - is removed from equity and recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in profit 
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or loss for investments in equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not reversed through profit or loss. Exceptionally, if the fair 

value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale recovers its value in a subsequent period, and the increase is related to an event 

occurring after the loss was recognized, this loss is reversed through profit or loss. 

III. Renegotiated loans 

Renegotiated loans are treated as new loans, keeping unchanged the assessment of the debtor's credit risk for purposes of measuring the 

impairment of these assets 

i) Property and equipment  

ìProperty and equipment in useî and other property and equipment items in use comprise tangible assets that are necessary to carry out the 

activities and/or that transfer to Safra the economic rewards, risks and control of such assets. Property and equipment are stated at historical cost 

less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 

economic benefits associated with the item will be generated and its cost can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recorded in 

profit or loss as administrative expenses in the year in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

- Properties in use: twenty-five years (4% per year); 

- Furniture and fixtures, equipment, communication and security systems, facilities and aircrafts: ten years (10% per year); 

- Vehicles and data processing equipment: five years (20% per year). 

Assets are reviewed for impairment loss whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 

asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount when the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated 

recoverable amount.  

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the net amount received with the carrying amount, and are recognized in "Other 

operating income (expenses)" in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

j) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are recognized initially at acquisition cost and correspond to rights to intangible assets that are maintained or used in Safra's 

activities.  

Intangible assets, substantially represented by software and system development expenditures, have finite useful life and are amortized using the 

straight-line method over the useful life of the respective asset. These assets are annually reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  

k) Non-current assets held for sale 

Non-current assets held for sale are assets that will have their carrying amount recovered through sale, not through continuous use. 

To be classified as held for sale, the asset should: 

- be available for immediate sale;  

- have its sale considered highly probable, that is, there must be a formal plan to sell it;  

- be part of a program to locate a buyer and complete the sale;  

- be actively marketed for sale at a sales price reasonable in relation to its current fair value; and 

- have its sale expected within one year. 

In certain circumstances, properties and assets are repossessed due to the execution of non-performing loans and are measured and carried at the 

lower of the carrying amount of the credit transaction and the fair value of properties and assets less costs to sell. 

Gains and losses arising from the sales price less costs to sell are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss under "Impairment losses 

(net of recovery) of financial assets". 

l) Lease operations 

Safra, as the lessee in leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor, classifies these operations 

as operating leases. 

In the cases in which Safra, as the lessee, retains a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, it classifies these operations 

as finance lease and presents them in its statement of financial position. 

m) Income 

Income is determined on the accrual basis of accounting, that is, income and expenses are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are 

earned or incurred, simultaneously when they are related, regardless of actual receipt or payment. 

Interest income and expenses, which cover all interest-bearing financial instruments, are recognized within "Interest income" and "Interest expenses" 

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Income and expenses of fees and commissions are recognized when services are rendered. 

n) Financial guarantees 

Financial guarantees are defined as contracts under which an entity undertakes to make specific payments on behalf of a third party, if the third party 
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does not make the payment, regardless of the several legal forms that they may have, such as guarantees, irrevocable documentary credit issued or 

confirmed by the entity, among others. 

Financial guarantees, regardless of the guarantor or other circumstances, are periodically reviewed to determine the credit risk to which they are 

exposed and, as the case may be, to consider if a provision is required. The credit risk is determined by applying criteria similar to those established 

to calculate the impairment losses of financial instruments carried at amortized cost. 

Financial guarantees provided are initially recognized at fair value, which corresponds to the present value of the fees, commissions, and interest 

received and receivable. Subsequently, this obligation is measured at the higher of (i) the amount initially recognized less accumulated amortization, 

and (ii) the value determined in accordance with IAS 37 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, if the occurrence of a loss in 

relation to a guarantee provided is probable. 

o) Insurance operations 

I. Insurance Contracts 

According to the IFRS 4 - Insurance contracts, an insurance contract is a contract under which the entity accepts significant insurance risk from 

another party by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event adversely affects the policyholder is classified as 

an insurance contract. 

A contract issued that transfers financial risk is considered an investment contract and is recognized and measured according to the accounting 

policies applicable to financial instruments - IAS 39. 

II. Receivables from insurance and reinsurance operations 

- Premiums receivable - refers to financial resources flowing to the Bank as receipt of premiums related to insurance, recorded on the policy 
issue date. Insurance premiums are tested for impairment and adjusted to their recoverable amount when there is indication that the 
amounts will not be realized by the recorded amounts 

- Reinsurance technical reserves - comprises technical reserves referring to reinsurance operations. Reinsurance operations are carried out in 
the regular course of activities in order to limit their potential losses. The liabilities related to reinsurance operations are presented gross of 
their respective recoveries, since the existence of a contract does not exempt the Company from its obligations to the policyholders. 

- Deferred acquisition costs - includes direct and indirect costs related to the origination of insurance. These costs, except for the 
commissions paid to the brokers and others, are recorded directly in profit or loss, when incurred. Commissions are deferred and recognized 
in profit or loss in proportion to the recognition of the revenues from premiums, that is, for the term corresponding to the insurance 
contract. 

III. Technical reserves of insurance and private pension: 

The technical reserves of insurance and private pension presented below are recorded based on technical actuarial notes, and correspond to 

existing insurance contracts: 

(i) Insurance: 

- Unearned premium reserve (PPNG): recorded in order to cover claims and expenses to be incurred for the risks assumed on the 
calculation base date, regardless of its issue, corresponding to the policy period to be elapsed. It is calculated based on the commercial 
premium, gross of reinsurance and net of coinsurance ceded, also comprising the estimate for current risks not issued (PPNG-RVNE). 
Between the issue and the initial date of coverage, the policy period to elapse is equal to policy period. After the issue and initial date of 
the policy period, the reserve is calculated on a daily pro rata basis. The PPNG related to retrocession transactions is recognized based on 
information received from the reinsurance company; 

- Reserve for outstanding claims (PSL): recorded based on estimates of indemnities relating to claims received through the end of reporting 
period, and monetarily restated according to Superintendence of Private Insurances (SUSEP) regulations; 

- Reserve for incurred but not reported losses (IBNR): recorded to cover amounts that are expected to be settled, related to losses incurred 
but not yet reported through the end of reporting period. For Life Insurance, the reserve is calculated by means of statistic-actuarial 
process, which uses the past experience of the Insurance company to project the amount of losses already incurred but not yet reported 
to the Insurance company. For other Insurance lines, the Insurance company uses, to determine such reserve, the percentages provided 
in a specific rule, in view of the small numerical amount computed in Insurance companyís database; and 

- Reserve for related expenses (PDR): recorded to cover amounts expected from expenses related to claims incurred (reported or not). The 
reserve calculation is made by means of statistic-actuarial process, which uses the past experience of the Insurance company to project 
the amount of payable expenses. 

 (ii) Private pension plan: 

- Mathematical reserves for unvested benefits (PMBAC) and vested benefits (PMBC): recorded to cover the obligations assumed with 
participants/insureds, in the accumulation period (PMBAC) and benefit vesting period (PMBC), of structured plans under the fully funded 
regime, and according to the actuarial technical note approved by SUSEP; and 

- Reserve for related expenses (PDR): recorded to cover all expenses related to the settlement of indemnities and benefits, in view of the 
claims incurred and to be incurred (fully-funded regime); 

IV. Liability adequacy test 

In compliance with IFRS 4 - Insurance contracts, Safra runs a Liability Adequacy Test (LAT) every six months. The purpose of such test is to 

verify if the recognized insurance liabilities are adequate, using current estimates of future cash flows according to their insurance contracts. 

The LAT result is the difference between (i) the current estimates of cash flows and (ii) the sum of the carrying amount at the end of reporting 
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period of the technical reserves (PPNG, PPNG-RVNE, PSL, IBNR, PMBAC and PMBC), less the deferred acquisition costs and the intangible assets 

directly related to the technical reserves.  

For the Private Pension segment, in the LAT the interest rates and the actuarial tables contracted by the participants are taken into account 

(rates at 0%, 3% or 6% plus adjustment for IGPM or IPCA and AT-1983, AT-2000 and BR-EMSsb tables). In the LAT determination, the other 

actuarial decrements are considered, such as: projections of redemptions (persistency table), rate of conversion into vested benefits and 

expected interest rate released by SUSEP (term structure of interest rates - ETTJ) according to the interest curve related to the liabilityís index. 

To calculate the estimate of the biometric variable mortality, the BR-EMS V.2010-m table is considered, implemented as Improvement, according 

to the G scale on the Society of Actuaries (SOA) website. 

For the Insurance segment, in the LAT determination the actuarial projections of expected loss ratio and administrative expenses are contained. 

The current estimates for cash flows are discounted to present value based on the risk-free term structures of interest rates (ETTJ) defined by 

SUSEP. 

The amount resulting from the LAT is presented in Reserve for supplementary coverage (PCC). 

V. Calculation of income from insurance, reinsurance and private pension operations  

Insurance premiums, less premiums ceded in co-insurance, and the respective acquisition costs are recognized at the point of issue of the policy 

contract or invoice. Insurance premium income is recognized in profit or loss over the policy period, by recognizing the unearned premium 

reserve and deferred acquisition costs. 

Ceded reinsurance premiums are deferred and recognized in profit or loss over the coverage period, by recording in the reinsurance assets ñ 

technical reserves.  

Revenues from private pension contribution are recognized when received. Income and expenses arising from DPVAT line insurance operations 

are recognized based on the information received from Seguradora Líder dos Consórcios do Seguro DPVAT S.A. 

p) Contingent assets and liabilities, provisions and legal, tax and social security obligations 

The recognition, measurement and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and legal obligations, according to the criteria established in IAS 37  ñ 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, are made as follows: 

I. Contingent assets 

These are possible assets arising from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 

more uncertain future events that are not fully under the control of the entity. Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial 

statements, but disclosed in the notes when it is probable that a gain from these assets will be realized. However, when there is evidence 

that the realization of the gain from these assets is virtually certain, the assets are no longer classified as contingent and begin to be 

recognized 

II. Provisions and contingent liabilities  

A present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of past events, in which it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 

settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably measured, should be recognized by the entity as a provision. If the outflow of resources 

to settle the present obligation is not probable or cannot be reliably measured, id does not characterize a provision, but a contingent liability, 

the recognition of a provision not being required but only a disclosed in the notes, unless the likelihood of settling the obligation is remote. 

Also characterized as contingent liabilities are the possible obligations arising from past events and whose existence is confirmed only by the 

occurrence of one or more uncertain future events that are not fully under the control of the entity. These possible obligations should also be 

disclosed. 

Obligations are evaluated by Management, based on the best estimates and taking into consideration the opinion of legal advisors, which 

records a provision when the likelihood of a loss is considered probable; and only discloses without recognizing the provision when the 

likelihood of loss is considered possible. Obligations for which there is a remote chance of loss do not require provision or disclosure. 

III. Legal obligations (tax and social security)  

These refer to lawsuits challenging the legality or constitutionality of certain taxes and contributions. The amount under litigation is 

quantified, provided and adjusted on a monthly basis. 

The judicial deposits not linked to provisions for contingent liabilities and legal obligations are restated on a monthly basis. 

q) Employee benefits 

I. Short- and long-term benefits 

Short-term benefits are those to be settled in twelve months. The benefits included in this category are salaries, contributions to the National 

Institute of Social Security, short leaves, profit sharing and non-monetary benefits 

Safra does not have long-term benefits related to employment contract termination other than those established by the category's union or 

share-based compensation for its key personnel and employees. Additionally, Safra has no share-based payment to its employees and key 

personnel. 

 

II. Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are payable when the employment contract is terminated before the normal retirement date. 



 
 

 

IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards) ñ December 31, 2015 
 

 
 

20 

Safra provides healthcare to its employees, as established by the category's union, as a form of termination benefit. 

III. Profit sharing 

Safra recognizes a provision for payment and a profit sharing expense (presented in the account "Personnel expenses" in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss) based on a calculation that considers the profit after certain adjustments. Safra recognizes a provision when it is 

contractually required or when there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation. 

r) Taxes 

Taxes are calculated at the rates below, considering, with respect to the respective calculation bases, the applicable legislation for each charge.  

Income tax 15.00% 15,00% 

Income tax surcharge 10,00% 

Social contribution (1) (2) 15,00% ñ 20,00% 

Social Integration Program (PIS)  (3) 0,65% 

Social Contribution on Revenues (COFINS) (3) 4,00% 

Services Tax (ISS) Up to 5,00% 
(1) Law 13,169, of 10.6.2015, temporarily increased the Social Contribution rate applicable to financial and similar institutions from 

15% to 20% over the period between 9.1.2015 to 12.31.2018. From 01.01.2019, the applicable rate returns to 15%. As a result 

of the temporary increase in the social contribution rate, the current taxes were calculated at the rates of 15% until 8.31.2015 

and 20% from September 2015. Safra did not recognize the effect of the 5% rate increase in the recognition of its deferred tax 

asset - Note 17, in view of the current macroeconomic outlook, which brought uncertainties about the expected generation of 

tax basis to be offset in the effective period of such rate increase. 
(2) Non-financial subsidiaries continue to be subject to a rate of 9% for this contribution; 
(3) Non-financial subsidiaries under the non-cumulative calculation regime continue to pay PIS and COFINS at the rates of 1.65% 

and 7.6%, respectively.  

 

Taxes are recognized in the statement of profit or loss, except when they relate to items recognized directly in equity. 

Deferred taxes, represented by deferred tax assets and liabilities, are calculated on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 

Deferred tax assets for temporary differences arise mainly from the fair value measurement of certain assets and liabilities, including derivative 

contracts, provisions for tax, civil and labor contingent liabilities, and impairment losses and adjustments for credit risk, are recognized only when all 

the requirements for its recognition, established by IAS 12 ñ Income Taxes, are met. 

Taxes related to fair value adjustments of available-for-sale financial assets are recognized against the related adjustment in equity, and are 

subsequently recognized in profit or loss based on the realization of gains and losses on the respective financial assets. 

s) Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to Safra's stockholders by the weighted average number of 

outstanding common shares during the year, excluding common shares purchased by Safra and held in treasury. 

Diluted earnings per share do not differ from basic earnings per share since there are no shares with dilutive effect. 

Earnings per share for the period ended 12.31.2015 were determined based on the number of shares at the end of reporting period (15,263). For 

purposes of comparability, for the period ended 12.31.2014, it was calculated based on the equivalent number of shares considering the changes in 

shares over the period. 

t) Equity 

I. Dividends and interest on capital 

The distribution of dividends to Safra's stockholders is recognized as a liability in the financial statements at the end of the year based on the 

bylaws, for the mandatory minimum dividend established therein. Any amount in excess of the mandatory minimum is only provided on the 

date it is approved at the stockholdersí meeting. The calculation base of dividends is the result calculated according to the Brazilian standards 

established by the Central Bank of Brazil. 

Interest on capital is treated, for accounting purposes, as dividends and is presented in the consolidated financial statements as a reduction of 

equity. The related tax benefit is recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

II. Undistributed profits and realized reserves 

The revenue reserve is recognized based on the undistributed profit after all legal allocations, its accumulated balance remaining at the 

disposal of the stockholders for future resolution at the stockholdersí meeting. 

The bylaws establish the allocation of profits, at June 30 and December 31 of each year, after the deductions and legal reserves. Five percent 

(5%) of the profit for the year is allocated to the legal reserve, and such allocation ceases to be mandatory when the reserve reaches 20% of 

the realized capital or 30% of the total capital and legal reserves. 

III. Unrealized revenue reserve 

The unrealized revenue reserve comprises the adjustments determined in the preparation of the financial statements under IFRS recognized in 
profit or loss, in accordance with the IFRS 
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u) Managed investment funds 

The investment funds managed by Safra, except for the consolidated exclusive funds, are not presented in the statement of financial position since 

the related assets are owned by third parties and Safra acts only as a management agent. The fees and commissions earned during the year for 

services rendered to these funds (asset management and custody services) are recognized under "Income from fees and commissions" in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

v) Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported consistently with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-

maker, which is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Executive 

Committee, which is also responsible for making Safra's strategic decisions. 

Income and expenses directly related to each segment are considered in the assessment of the business segment's performance. 

According to the IFRS 8, Safra has the following business segments: (i) Commercial bank; (ii) Consumer financing; (iii) Insurance, Asset 

management, investment banking, and other and (iv) Corporation. 

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

The consolidated financial statements are influenced by Safra's accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and judgment. The estimates and assumptions 

that impact the accounting information are consistently applied over the years. Any changes in the determination of accounting estimates are prospectively 

applied. 

The estimates and assumptions used are those that Safra consider the best estimates and assumptions available and are in accordance with the applicable 

accounting standards. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated by Safra, based on past experiences, new evidences and other factors, including 

expectations concerning future events. 

a) Impairment losses and adjustments for credit risk 

The preparation of financial statements requires Safra to make estimates and assumptions that, in its best judgment, affect the amounts of the 
provisions for impairment losses and adjustments for credit risk.  

Safra performed a simulation of the sensitivity of the provision for impairment losses to an increase in the credit default levels. In this year, we 
considered that the hypothetical impact of an 20.0% increase in the default levels at 12.31.2015 on our loan portfolio would lead to a 53.0% increase 
in the amount of the required provision. This simulation involves a series of assumptions and is for merely illustrative purposes. 

b) Fair value of financial instruments 

The financial instruments carried at fair value in the statement of financial position include mainly financial assets and liabilities held for trading, 
including derivatives, credit operations designated at fair value on initial recognition, other financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value and 
available-for-sale financial assets. Financial assets classified as held-to-maturity, credit operations and other financial assets in the category of loans 
and receivables and financial liabilities not measured at fair value are recorded in the statement of financial position at amortized cost, and their 
corresponding fair values are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

The fair value of financial instruments is determined based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
arm's length transaction conducted between independent participants at the measurement date. There are different levels of data that must be used 
to measure the fair value of financial instruments: the observable data that reflect quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets 
(Level 1), the data that are directly or indirectly relevants observable as similar assets or liabilities (Level 2), identical assets or liabilities in illiquid 
markets and relevants unobservable market data that reflect Safra's premises when pricing an asset or liability (Level 3). The bank maximizes the use 
of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs to determine fair value.  

To arrive at an estimate of fair value of a financial instrument measured based on relevants unobservable markets, Safra first determines the 
appropriate model to be adopted and due to the lack of monitoring of significant data, evaluates all data based on relevant experience in derivation of 
data evaluation, including but not limited to, yield curves, interest rates, volatilities, prices of equity interest or debts, exchange rates and credit 
curves. Also Safra's decision should be considered to assess the appropriate level of valuation adjustments to reflect counterparty credit quality, the 
actual amount of credit, liquidity constraints and relevants unobservable inputs. Although it is believed that the valuation methods are appropriate 
and consistent with those prevailing in the market, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial 
instruments could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting and/or settlement date ñ Note 22(b). 

In order to measure the fair value of financial assets and liabilities, the process of pricing financial instruments at fair value considers the credit risk 
component and the settlement cost of positions. The determined adjustments were recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

c) Impairment loss of available-for-sale financial assets - Note 3(h-II) 

Safra determines that an assessment of the available-for-sale financial assets is made so that at their subsequent measurement they result in a 
significant derecognition or prolonged decline in the asset's fair value. 

The determination of "significant" or "prolonged" requires judgment. In order to reach this judgment Safra assesses, among other factors, the 
historical variation of the price of shares and securities. Additionally, the objective evidence of impairment loss can be appropriate when there is 
evidence of deterioration in the issuer's financial health, in the industry's and sector's performance, in technology changes, and in operating and 
financing cash flows. 

Even if all declines in the fair value below cost had been considered significant or prolonged, there would be no material effect on the financial 
statements at 12.31.2015 and 12.31.2014. 

d) Provision for contingent liabilities 

The provision for contingent liabilities is recognized when, based on Safra's and the legal advisors' opinion, the risk of loss in a lawsuit or 
administrative proceeding is considerable probable, with a probable outflow of resources to settle the obligations and when the amounts involved are 
reliably measurable. The amount under litigation is quantified, accrued and adjusted on a monthly basis, if applicable. 

The amounts of the possible settlement of financial assets and liabilities may differ from those presented based on these estimates; it is worth noting 
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that in some cases there are judicial deposits - Note 15(b). 

e) Deferred income tax and social contribution 

Deferred tax assets are recognized when there is a strong expectation of using them through the generation of taxable profits, as shown in Note 
17(b-III). Such expectation is based on studies that involve Management's judgment as to the projected generation of future profits and other 
variables. 

f) Technical reserves of insurance and private pension 

Technical reserves are liabilities arising from Safra's obligations to its policyholders and participants. These obligations may have a short duration 
(property and casualty insurance) or medium or long duration (life insurance and private pension). 

The determination of the actuarial liability depends on innumerable uncertainties inherent in the coverage of the insurance and private pension 
contracts, such as assumptions of persistency, mortality, disability, longevity, morbidity, expenses, claim ratio, severity, conversion into income, 
redemptions and return on assets. 

The estimates of these assumptions are based on Safra's historical experience, benchmarks and the actuary's experience and seek to converge with 
the best market practices and aim at the continuous review of the actuarial liability. Adjustments resulting from these continuous improvements, 
when necessary, are recognized in profit or loss of the respective period - Note 12(a). 
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5 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

Cash 1,264,384  792,417 

Open market investments - own portfolio - Note 6 3,533,195  5,450,451 

Interbank deposits 100,540  90,209 

Foreign currency investments 1,913,151  1,095,279 

Total 6,811,270  7,428,356 

6 INTERBANK INVESTMENTS 

Refer, substantially, to short-term investments, classified in the category of financial assets - loans and receivables and measured at amortized cost:: 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

  Amounts by maturity   

 

 

Up to 90 days  

From 91 to 365 

days  Over 365 days  Total  Total 

Open market investments(1) 34,769,565  4,948,671  -  39,718,236 38,330,981 

  Own portfolio - National Treasury 3,533,195  756,195  -  4,289,390  5,450,451 

  Own portfolio - Securities pledged in guarantee ñ Debentures ñ Note 12(b)  -  42,641  -  42,641  107,769 

  Third-party portfolio - National Treasury (2)  15,870,365  2,623,382  -  18,493,747  17,334,552 

  Short position - National Treasury (2)  15,366,005  1,526,453  -  16,892,458  15,438,209 

Interbank deposits (3)  477,568  454,780  1,158,913  2,091,261  2,042,689 

Foreign currency investments (1)  1,913,151  -  -  1,913,151  1,095,279 

Total at 12.31.2015  37,160,284  5,403,451  1,158,913  43,722,648  41,468,949 

Total at 12.31.2014  39,966,154  304,773  1,198,022  41,468,949   
(1) Includes transactions with related parties ñ Note 23(c). 
(2) Backing for open market funding ñ Note 10(a-II).   
(3) At 12.31.2015, of this amount, R$ 382,702 (R$ 208,976 at 12.31.2014) refers to operations linked to rural credit. 

 
7 CENTRAL BANK COMPULSORY DEPOSITS 

Brazilian Central Bank reserves are substantially made up of compulsory deposits. 

    12.31.2015   12.31.2014 

Interest bearing (1)  2,079,500  1,185,860 

Non-interest bearing  124,175  186,365 

Outside Brazil  86,615  66,162 

Total  2,290,290  1,438,387 
(1) The income arising from interest-bearing compulsory deposits was R$ 123,990 (R$ 119,436 in 2014) ñ Note 14(a). 
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8 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (ASSETS/LIABILITIES) 

a) Breakdown of the financial assets portfolio 

I - Held for trading, available-for-sale and held-to-maturity securities 

12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

 

Related 

cost 

 Fair Value 
Adjustment 

 
Fair value  

No stated 
maturity 

 
Up to 90 

days 
 

From 91 to 
365 days 

 
Over 365 

days 
 Fair value 

Trading securities 38,669,839  (820,057)  37,849,782  339,417  435,528  7,647,262  29,427,575  29,701,863 

  Government securities - National Treasury 37,294,370  (821,136)  36,473,234  106,203  188,118  7,392,576  28,786,337  27,286,372 

    National Treasury Bills (LTN) 17,262,437  (742,749)  16,519,688  -  188,118  1,875,097  14,456,473  21,839,686 

    National Treasury Notes (NTNs) 12,055,933  (78,129)  11,977,804  -  -  5,445,879  6,531,925  4,390,803 

    Financial Treasury Bills (LFTs) 7,869,797  (258)  7,869,539  -  -  71,600  7,797,939  975,879 

 DPVAT funds quotas - Government securities 106,203  -  106,203  106,203  -  -  -  80,004 

  Quotas of funds - Subject to guarantee 177,617  -  177,617  177,617  -  -  -  176,666 

  Investment fund quotas 15,797  -  15,797  15,797  -  -  -  24,224 

  Private securities 1,010,194  1,098  1,011,292  39,800  75,568  254,686  641,238  1,186,011 

    Shares 38,330  73  38,403  38,403  -  -  -  48,766 

    Debentures 324,027  1,025  325,052  -  -  36,540  288,512  425,563 

    Bank Deposit Certificates 44,267  -  44,267  -  15,928  28,339  -  134,271 

    Financial bills 602,173  -  602,173  -  59,640  189,807  352,726  453,469 

    Promissory Notes -  -  -  -  -  -  -  121,644 

    Other 1,397  -  1,397  1,397  -  -  -  2,298 

  Marketable securities issued abroad 171,861  (19)  171,842  -  171,842  -  -  1,028,590 

    Bank Deposit Certificates -  -  -  -  -  -  -  91,390 

    Denmark -  -  -  -  -  -  -  937,197 

    US government securities 171,861  (19)  171,842  -  171,842  -  -  3 

Available-for-sale securities 11,580,914  (25,631)  11,555,283  1,121  927,393  1,615,139  9,011,630  10,214,845 

  Government securities ñ National treasury 2,361,614  (28,728)  2,332,886  -  -  1,295,793  1,037,093  4,409,880 

    National Treasury Bills (LTN) 75,523  (1,259)  74,264  -  -  44,833  29,431  121,468 

    National Treasury Notes (NTNs) 2,286,091  (27,469)  2,258,622  -  -  1,250,960  1,007,662  4,288,412 

  Private securities 3,250,798  (2,578)  3,248,220  1,121  137,502  83,203  3,026,394  2,678,735 

    Debentures 2,744,554  -  2,744,554  -  -  -  2,744,554  1,994,847 

    Certificates of real estate receivables (CRI) 796  -  796  -  -  -  796  60,901 

    Shares 1,121  -  1,121  1,121  -  -  -  1,115 

    Bank Deposit Certificates (1) 38,726  -  38,726  -  26,171  -  12,555  493,128 

    Financial bills -  -  -  -  -  -  -  27,166 

    Rural Certificates (CPR) 45,027  (2,578)  42,449  -  -  26,374  16,075  18,011 

    Promissory Notes 420,574  -  420,574  -  111,331  56,829  252,414  83,567 

  Marketable securities issued abroad 5,968,502  5,675  5,974,177  -  789,891  236,143  4,948,143  3,126,230 

    Eurobonds 454,131  (4,040)  450,091  -  127,177  -  322,914  316,257 

    Eurobonds - Fair value hedge - Note 8(d) 5,514,371  9,715  5,524,086  -  662,714  236,143  4,625,229  2,809,973 

Held-to-maturity securities -  -  -  -  -  -  -  154,966 

  Government securities - National Treasury Bills -  -  -  -  -  -  -  99,974 

  Private securities - Promissory notes -  -  -  -  -  -  -  54,992 

Total at 12.31.2015 (2) 50,250,753  (845,688)  49,405,065  340,538  1,362,921  9,262,401  38,439,205  40,071,674 
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Total at 12.31.2014 40.317.195  (245.521)  40.071.674  213.845  1.734.486  12.486.111  25.637.232 

    Trading securities 29,923,730  (221,867)  29,701,863  212,730  1,255,407  9,795,404  18,438,322 
    Available-for-sale securities 10,238,499  (23,654)  10,214,845  1,115  324,113  2,690,707  7,198,910 

    Held-to-maturity securities 154,966  -  154,966  -  154,966  -  - 

 

 

II - By characteristic: 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

    Restricted  Funds 

guaranteeing 

technical reserves 

for insurance and 

private pension 

operations ñ Note 

12(b) 

    

  
Own 

portfolio 

 

Repurchase 
agreements ñ 

Note 10(a-II) 

 
Securities related 

to unrestricted 

repurchase 

agreements ñ 

Note 10(a-II) 

 
Guarantees 

provided (3) 

 

Brazilian 
Central 
Bank 

  

Total 

 

Total 

Total at 12.31.2015  26,410,815  12,306,816  1,516,530  2,095,623  531,129  6,544,152  49,405,065  40,071,674 

  Government securities - National Treasury  16,676,837  12,306,816  1,516,530  2,095,623  531,129  5,679,185  38,806,120  31,796,226 

  Fund quotas - Subject to guarantee  -  -  -  -  -  177,617  177,617  176,666 

  Private securities  3,587,959  -  -  -  -  687,350  4,275,309  3,943,962 

  Marketable securities issued abroad  6,146,019  -  -  -  -  -  6,146,019  4,154,820 

Total at 12.31.2014  23,037,339             9,906,165  -  1,569,867  872,240  4,686,063  40,071,674   

  Government securities - National Treasury  15,630,514  9,906,165  -  1,569,867  872,240  3,817,440  31,796,226   

  Fund quotas - Subject to guarantee  -  -  -  -  -  176,666  176,666   

  Private securities  3,252,005  -  -  -  -  691,957  3,943,962   

  Foreign securities   4,154,820  -  -  -  -  -  4,154,820   
(1) Substantially represented by Time Deposit with Special Guarantee by the Fundo Garantidor de Crédito ñ DPGE (The Brazilian Deposit Guarantee Fund). 
(2) At 12.31.2015, the amount of other adjustments to fair value, related to the credit risk of other credit risk instruments ñ Notes 4(b) and 9(a), is R$ (71,221) and is recorded in Other Financial Liabilities ñ 

Note 13.  
(3) Refers to guarantee of derivative financial instrument transactions made in stock exchange in the amount of R$ 1,895,843 (R$ 1,442,694 at 12.31.2014), realized in the clearing and depository 

corporation in the amount of R$ 119,363 (R$ 154,864 at 12.31.2014) and civil and labor appeals in the amount of R$ 80,417 (R$ 57,067 at 12.31.2014) ñ Note 15(d-I).  
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III - Changes in financial assets: 

  AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE  HELD TO MATURITY 

  01.01. to 12.31.2015  01.01. to 12.31.2014  01.01. to 12.31.2015  01.01. to 12.31.2014 

Balance at the beginning of the period  10,214,845  5,398,506  154,966  144,447 

   Foreign exchange variation abroad  1,447,736  -  -  - 

   Acquisition in the period  5,936,594  11,491,548  -  50,000 

   Sales in the period  (3,280,576)  (6,164,570)  -  (54,927) 

   Redemptions and receipt of interest  (1,583,192)  (1,665,584)  (155,941)  - 

   Transfer between categories (1)  (2,123,202)  -  -  - 

   Profit or loss  940,960  1,143,781  975  15,446 

      Interest income - Note 14(a) 

 

 1,003,600  1,118,113  975  15,446 

      Dividend income 

 

 3,265  7,300  -  - 

      Profit/(loss) on the sale   (57,644)  412  -  - 

      Adjustment arising from fair value hedge ñ unrealized ñ Note 8(d)  (8,261)  17,956  -  - 

   Adjustments in changes in fair value - Note 20(d)  2,118  11,164  -  - 

      Changes in fair value in the period (2)  (46,127)  11,576  -  - 

      Transfer between categories (1)  (9,399)  -  -  - 

      Profit/(loss) on the sale of securities (2)  57,644  (412)  -  - 

Balance at the end of the period  11,555,283  10,214,845  -  154,966 
(1) At 03.31.2015, Safra reclassified the available-for-sale securities (NTN-B) to trading securities, in the amount of R$ 2,123,202, in order to include them in the portfolio comprising the same type of 

securities, acquired in the first quarter of 2015, with recognition of the decrease in profit or loss, net of tax effects, of R$ (9,399), according to the standards provided by the IAS 39 ñ Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 

(2) Effect on Other comprehensive income. 

b) Derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities) 

The use of derivative financial instruments in the Conglomerate has the following main objectives:  

· provide to its customers fixed income structured products that hedge their assets and liabilities against possible risks, substantially, from currency and interest rate fluctuations, and 
· outweigh the risks taken by Safra in the following operations (economic hedges and/or accounting hedge - Note 8(d)): 

- Credit operations and funding contracted at fixed rates and other funding - Note11); and 
- Investment abroad - together with interbank transactions for future settlement - Note 13(a), the foreign currency derivatives are employed to minimize the effects on results of exposure to the foreign 

exchange variation of investments abroad. These derivatives are contracted with a higher value to include their tax effects - "over hedge".  

Thus, the notional amounts of the contracts shown below, taken alone, do not reflect the actual risk assumed by Safra. 

The interest of fixed income structured transactions was recognized in "Interest expense", depending on the nature of these operations. The other results of derivative financial instruments and foreign exchange 
gains and losses of investments abroad and foreign exchange gains and losses of interbank operations for future settlement were recognized under "Derivatives " in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
The tax effects on the "over hedge" investment abroad are recognized under "Income tax and social contribution" in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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I. Asset and liability accounts 

1) By type of operation 

 12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

 
Restated 

cost 

 Fair Value 
Adjustment 

 Fair 
value  

Up to 90 
day  

From 91 
to 365 days  

Over 365 
days  

Fair 
value 

  Non Deliverable Forward (NDF)  105,904  -  105,904  37,253  68,181  470  14,936 

  Option premiums 31,465  83,079  114,544  37,696  74,530  2,318  84,484 

    Bovespa Index -  -  -  -  -  -  167 

    Foreign Currency 28,034  83,079  111,113  37,696  73,417  -  65,387 

    Interbank Deposit (DI) Index 3,431  -  3,431  -  1,113  2,318  18,693 

    Shares -  -  -  -  -  -  237 

  Forward 174  31,712  31,886  31,886  -  -  165,656 

    Purchase receivable ñ Government 

securities - LTN 87  -  87  87  -  -  82,907 

    Sales receivable 87  31,712  31,799  31,799  -  -  82,749 

       Government Securities - LTN 87  -  87  87  -  -  82,749 

       Foreign Currency -  31,712  31,712  31,712  -  -  - 

  Swap - Amounts receivable 771,169  50,782  821,951  21,959  146,469  653,523  354,910 

     Interest rate 14,765  52,668  67,433  6,058  12,774  48,601  30,144 

     Foreign currency 727,264  18,625  745,889  15,515  125,678  604,696  323,207 

     Bovespa Index 23,699  (15,571)  8,128  480  7,422  226  75 

     Commodities -  -  -  -  -  -  (4) 

     Shares 5,441  (4,940)  501  (94)  595  -  1,488 

  Credit default swaps (CDS) 332,445  -  332,445  133,811  198,634  -  143,883 

  Futures 499  -  499  499  -  -  994 

  Other fair value adjustments ñ 

Note 4(b) -  (30)  (30)  (30)  -  -  - 

 Total Assets at 12.31.2015 1,241,656  165,543  1,407,199  263,074  487,814  656,311   764,863 

 Total Assets at 12.31.2014  645,095   119,768    764,863   289,754    185,305    289,804    

 

 12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

 
Restated 

cost 

 Fair Value 
Adjustment 

 Fair 
value  

Up to 90 
day  

From 91 
to 365 days  

Over 365 
days  

Fair 
value 

  Non Deliverable Forward (NDF) (79,180)  -  (79,180)  (39,557)  (39,463)  (160)  (37,284) 

  Option premiums (1) (2,622,099)  25,605  (2,596,494)  (632,897)  (1,337,996)  (625,601)  (3,570,614) 

    Bovespa Index (5,000)  5,000  -  -  -  -  (33) 

    Foreign currency (2,616,716)  20,596  (2,596,120)  (632,897)  (1,337,996)  (625,227)  (3,555,696) 

    Interbank Deposit (DI) Index (374)  -  (374)  -  -  (374)  (14,742) 

    Shares (9)  9  -  -  -  -  (143) 

  Forward (174)  -  (174)  (174)  -  -  (165,656) 

    Purchase payable ñ Government    
securities (LTN) (87)  -  (87)  (87)  -  -  (82,907) 

    Sales deliverable ñ Government 
securities (LTN) (87)  -  (87)  (87)  -  -  (82,749) 

  Swap - amounts payable (1) (1,480,380)  (156,943)  (1,637,323)  (310,870)  (958,286)  (368,167)  (837,925) 

    Interest rate (105,670)  (105,182)  (210,852)  (35,725)  (95,324)  (79,803)  (195,950) 

    Foreign currency (1,374,710)  (51,761)  (1,426,471)  (275,145)  (862,962)  (288,364)  (629,962) 

    Commodities -  -  -  -  -  -  (3,514) 

    Shares -  -  -  -  -  -  (8,499) 

  Credit default swaps (CDS) (203,961)  -  (203,961)  (203,961)  -  -  (112,143) 

  Futures  (64)  (19,287)  (19,351)  (19,320)  (17)  (14)  (19,736) 

  Other fair value adjustments ñ 

Note 4(b) -  (3,344)  (3,344)  (3,344)  -  -  - 

Total Liabilities at 12.31.2015 (4,385,858)  (153,969)  (4,539,827)  (1,210,123)  (2,335,762)  (993,942)  (4,743,358) 

Total Liabilities at 12.31.2014 (4,721,942)  (21,416)  (4,743,358)  (1,002,997)  (2,467,034)  (1,273,327)   
(1) Includes premiums of fixed income structured transactions in the amount of R$ (3,602,154) (R$ 4,424,949 at 12.31.2014) ñ Note 10. 

Interest related to these operations is recorded under "Interest expenses" in the statement of profit or loss - Note 14(b). 



 
 

 

 

IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards) ñ December 31, 2015 
 

 
 

28 

2) By counterparty 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

        Amounts by maturity   

Assets  

  

Restated cost 

 Fair value 
adjustment 

 

Fair value  
Up to 90 

days  
From 91 to 
365 days  

Over 365 
days  Fair value 

  Financial institutions  714,152  (20,144)  694,008  152,783  251,009  290,216  451,353 

  BMF&BOVESPA  30,705  73,540  104,245  54,954  46,973  2,318  80,796 

  Legal entities  488,161  94,228  582,389  54,022  183,418  344,949  221,660 

  Individuals  8,638  17,949  26,587  1,345  6,414  18,828  11,054 

  Other fair value adjustments ñ Notes 4(b)  -  (30)  (30)  (30)  -  -  - 

 Total assets at 12.31.2015   1,241,656  165,543  1,407,199  263,074  487,814  656,311  764,863 

 Total assets at 12.31.2014   645,095  119,768  764,863  289,754  185,305  289,804   

 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

        Amounts by maturity   

Liabilities  

  

Restated cost 

 Fair value 
adjustment 

 

Market value  
Up to 90 

days  
From 91 to 
365 days  

Over 365 
days  Fair value 

  Financial institutions  (735,693)  (1,594)  (737,287)  (262,328)  (464,554)  (10,405)  (584,259) 

  BMF&BOVESPA  (13,125)  6,318  (6,807)  (25,001)  (15,549)  33,743  (60,000) 

  Legal entities  (2,817,477)  (117,845)  (2,935,322)  (801,352)  (1,475,708)  (658,262)  (2,989,666) 

  Individuals  (819,563)  (37,504)  (857,067)  (118,098)  (379,951)  (359,018)  (1,109,433) 

  Other fair value adjustments ñ Notes 4(b)  -  (3,344)  (3,344)  (3,344)  -  -  - 

 Total liabilities at 12.31.2015   (4,385,858)  (153,969)  (4,539,827)  (1,210,123)  (2,335,762)  (993,942)  (4,743,358) 

 Total liabilities at 12.31.2014   (4,721,942)  (21,416)  (4,743,358)  (1,002,997)  (2,467,034)  (1,273,327)   
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II. Breakdown by notional amount: 

1) By type of operation 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

  Amounts by maturity     

  

Up to 90 

days  

From 91 to 
365 
days 

 

Over 365 

days  Total  Total 

 Non Deliverable Forward (NDF)  1,323,352  889,178  24,092  2,236,622  866,466 

  Long position  726,556  671,810  24,092  1,422,458  400,503 

  Short position  596,796  217,368  -  814,164  465,963 

 Option premiums (1)  11,374,247  32,658,885  14,983,401  59,016,533  65,370,893 

  Long position  201,262  618,959  199,457  1,019,678  7,817,883 

    Shares  -  -  -  -  10,171 

    Interbank Deposit (DI) Index  -  174,293  199,457  373,750  6,866,192 

    Bovespa Index  -  -  -  -  1,709 

    Foreign currency  201,262  444,666  -  645,928  939,811 

  Short position  11,172,985  32,039,926  14,783,944  57,996,855  57,553,010 

    Shares  380  6,929  6,668  13,977  54,027 

    Bovespa Index  65,675  529,532  44,900  640,107  87,601 

    Interbank Deposit (DI) Index  -  143,579  198,002  341,581  6,863,751 

    Foreign currency  11,097,648  31,149,882  14,529,633  56,777,163  50,322,039 

    Interest rate  9,282  210,004  4,741  224,027  225,592 

 Forward  14,519,070  -  -  14,519,070  502,335 

  Long position ñ Government 

Securities 
 87  -  -  87  82,881 

  Obligations to be delivered  14,518,983  -  -  14,518,983  419,454 

      Foreign Currency  14,518,896  -  -  14,518,896  - 

      Government Securities  87  -  -  87  419,454 

  Swap (1)           

    Assets  10,569,760  13,395,465  2,948,485  26,913,710  20,409,862 

     Interest rate  1,525,569  3,790,817  1,754,157  7,070,543  8,963,422 

     Foreign currency  8,919,138  8,526,159  1,149,428  18,594,725  10,925,735 

     Local currency  -  576,105  -  576,105  391,889 

     Commodities  -  -  -  -  3,300 

     Shares  12,079  133,957  -  146,036  123,254 

     Other  112,974  368,427  44,900  526,301  2,262 

    Liabilities  10,569,760  13,395,465  2,948,485  26,913,710  20,409,862 

     Interest rate  986,321  2,722,673  1,766,123  5,475,117  6,427,831 

     Foreign currency  9,583,439  10,596,803  1,182,362  21,362,604  13,925,167 

     Commodities  -  -  -  -  16,500 

     Bovespa Index  -  3  -  3  - 

     Shares  -  75,986  -  75,986  40,364 

  Futures  25,398,197  42,951,241  23,316,256  91,665,694  60,909,402 

    Long position  1,608,983  14,364,744  7,013,639  22,987,366  10,769,987 

       Interest rate  -  14,043,648  2,855,988  16,899,636  529,590 

       Currency coupon  1,098,477  304,114  4,157,651  5,560,242  8,988,214 

       Foreign currency  179,106  16,982  -  196,088  641,325 

       Bovespa Index  331,400  -  -  331,400  610,858 

    Short position  23,789,214  28,586,497  16,302,617  68,678,328  50,139,415 

       Interest rate  19,502,736  21,200,013  5,512,332  46,215,081  40,322,981 

       Currency coupon  4,019,817  7,386,484  10,789,170  22,195,471  9,790,737 

       Foreign currency  266,661  -  1,115  267,776  14,090 

       Bovespa Index  -  -  -  -  11,607 

  Credit default swaps (CDS)  4,545,881  1,544,560  -  6,090,441  3,120,706 

TOTAL at 12.31.2015  67,730,507  91,439,329  41,272,234  200,442,070  151,179,664 

TOTAL at 12.31.2014  57,953,633  55,640,827  37,585,204  151,179,664   

 (1) Includes the amount of R$ 57,932,578 (R$ 51,874,145 at 12.31.2014) related to fixed income structured operations ñ Note 10. 



 

 

IFRS (International Financial Reporting Standards) ñ December 31, 2015 
 

 
 

30 

2) Trading locations by counterparties 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

 Locations  BM&FBOVESPA  
Financial 

institutions  Legal entities  Individuals  
Total notional 

amount  
Total notional 

amount 

Central System for Custody and  
Financial Settlement of Securities 
(CETIP)  17,392,456  20,406,206  39,672,953  24,976,147  102,447,762  36,942,768 

BM&FBOVESPA  -  91,903,868  -  -  91,903,868  111,116,190 

Over the counter - abroad  -  6,090,440  -  -  6,090,440  3,120,706 

Total at 12.31.2015  17,392,456  118,400,514  39,672,953  24,976,147  200,442,070  151,179,664 

Total at 12.31.2014  16,015,135  76,137,646  41,093,227  17,933,656  151,179,664   

III. Credit derivatives 

Safra makes use of derivative financial instruments of credit in order to offer its customers, through issuance of securities, 

opportunities to diversify their investment portfolios. 

Safra held the following positions in credit derivatives, shown at their notional amount: 

 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

Transferred risks (1)  (3,022,416)  (1,549,242) 

  Credit swap whose underlying assets are:     

  Marketable securities  (3,022,416)  (1,549,242) 

Received risks (1)  3,068,024  1,556,626 

  Credit swap whose underlying assets are:     

  Marketable securities  3,068,024  1,556,626 

Total, net of received exposure/( transferred)  45,608  7,384 
 (1) The transferred and received risks refer to the same issuers. 

During the year there was no credit event related to the triggering facts provided in the contracts.
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c) Developments of mark-to-market adjustments: 

    01.01 a 12.31.2015   01.01. to 12.31.2014 

At the beginning of the period ñ Fair value adjustments  (134,454)  (209,914) 

 Trading securities and Obligations related to unrestricted repurchase agreements  (15,595)  (2,677) 

    Trading securities ñ Note 8(a)  (221,867)  (16,433) 

    Obligations related to unrestricted repurchase agreements - Note 10(a-II)  206,272  13,756 

 Available-for-sale securities (1)  (37,464)  (48,628) 

 Derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities)  98,352  26,417 

 Fair value hedge of available-for-sale securities - Note 8(d) (1)  13,810  (4,146) 

 Assets/liabilities designated at fair value - Note 11(b)  (193,557)  (180,880) 

Change:  (273,645)  75,460 

  Foreign exchange variation abroad  (39,563)  (9,305) 

     Trading securities  (65)  - 

     Fair value hedge of available-for-sale securities  4,166  - 

     Assets/liabilities designated at fair value - Note 11(b)  (43,664)  (9,305) 

  Profit or loss  (236,200)  73,601 

    Trading securities and Obligations related to unrestricted repurchase agreements  60,874  (12,918) 

       Trading securities - Note 14(c)  (598,125)  (205,434) 

       Obligations related to unrestricted repurchase agreements - Note 14(c)  658,999  192,516 

    Derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities) - Note 14(f)  (86,778)  71,935 

    Fair value hedge of available-for-sale securities - Note 8(d)  (8,261)               17,956  

    Assets/liabilities designated at fair value - Note 11(b)  (202,035)  (3,372) 

  Equity - Available for sale - Note 20(d)  2,118  11,164 

At the end of the period ñ Fair value adjustments  (408,099)  (134,454) 

 Securities and Obligations related to unrestricted repurchase agreements  45,214  (15,595) 

    Trading securities ñ Note 8(a)  (820,057)  (221,867) 

    Obligations related to unrestricted repurchase agreements - Note 10(a-II)  865,271  206,272 

 Available-for-sale securities - Note 20(d) (1)  (35,346)  (37,464) 

 Derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities)   11,574  98,352 

 Fair value hedge of available-for-sale securities - Note 8(d) (1)  9,715  13,810 

 Assets/liabilities designated at fair value - Note 11(b)  (439,256)  (193,557) 
(1) The fair value adjustment of the available-for-sale securities amounts to R$ (25,631) (R$ (23,654) at 12.31.2014) ñ Note 8(a). 

d) Hedge accounting of financial assets and liabilities 

The aim of the designated hedge accounting applied by Safra is to hedge the fair value of Eurobonds (financial assets classified as available-for-sale), arising from the risk of fluctuation in the benchmark rate - London 

Interbank Offered Rate (Libor) (fair value hedge). 

Safra uses as hedge instrument interest rate swap contracts with notional amount at market of R$ 6,390,135 (R$ 2,608,675 at 12.31.2014), with the following maturities: R$ 4,461,894 in 2016, R$ 29,594 in 2017, R$ 
376,050 in 2018, R$ 479,446 in 2019, R$ 37,555 in 2020, R$ 125,051 in 2021, R$ 63,303 in 2022, R$ 223,879 in 2023 and R$ 593,363 in 2024. The adjustment at fair value amounts to R$ (49,034) (R$ (26,489) at 
12.31.2014).  

The balance at fair value of hedged Eurobonds is  R$ 5,524,085 (R$ 2,809,973 at 12.31.2014), with maturities between 2016 and 2024.  The effective portion recorded in the statement of profit or loss under gains 

(losses) on investment in securities is R$ (8,261) (R$ 17,956 in 2014). 
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9 CREDIT OPERATIONS 

a) Expanded credit portfolio and impairment losses and adjustments for credit risk  

I. Breakdown 

    12.31.2015   12.31.2014 

Expanded credit portfolio 
 

75,807,361 
 

76,927,506 

Credit transactions - Note 9(b) 
 

                  49,704,568  
 

                   55,781,960  

At amortized cost 
 

                  29,613,388  
 

                  35,748,228  

At fair value on initial recognition 
 

                    20,091,180  
 

                  20,033,732  

Other credit risk instruments - Note 8(a) (1) 
 

                     6,777,496  
 

                     4,580,822  

Foreign exchange gains and losses on advances on foreign exchange contracts ñ Note 13(a) 
 

147,845 
 

133,045 

Guarantees and sureties - Note 9(h) 
 

                    19,177,452  
 

                    16,431,679  

Impairment losses and adjustments for credit risk 
 

         (2,137,735) 
 

          (1,269,619) 

Credit transactions - Note 9(c)  (1,873,075)  (1,104,786) 

      At amortized cost 
 

         (766,732) 
 

                       (430,666) 

      At fair value on initial recognition 
 

                    (1,106,343) 
 

                        (674,120) 

Other credit risk instruments - Note 13 (1) 
 

                        (71,221) 
 

                        -    

Foreign exchange gains and losses on advances on foreign exchange contracts ñ Note 13(a) 
 

                        (2,701) 
 

-    

Guarantees and sureties - Note 9(h)                       (190,738)                           (164,833) 
(1) Substantially represented by transactions with debentures and Eurobonds issued by companies. 

II. Changes of the impairment losses and adjustments for credit risk 

 

 

  01.01. to 12.31.2015 

    
Balance at the beginning of 

the year 
 Recognition/ (reversal)  Write-offs 

 
Balance at the end of the 

year 

Impairment losses and adjustments for credit risk 
 

  (1,269,619)   (1,736,591)     868,475  
 

  (2,137,735) 

Credit transactions - Note 9(c)  (1,104,786)         (1,636,764)      868,475   (1,873,075) 

      At amortized cost 
         (430,666)         (571,027)      234,961  

 
        (766,732) 

      At fair value on initial recognition 
         (674,120)      (1,065,737)      633,514  

 
    (1,106,343) 

Other credit risk instruments - Note 13 
                      -            (71,221)                  -  

 
          (71,221) 

Allowance for other credit risks ñ Note 13(a) 
                      -              (2,701)                  -  

 
            (2,701) 

Guarantees and sureties - Note 9(h)           (164,833)            (25,905)                   -            (190,738) 
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b) Breakdown of credit portfolio 

  

12.31.2015   12.31.2014 

Designated at  Designated at 

Amortized 
Cost 

  

Fair Value 
Adjustment - 
Note 11(a)   

Total 
 

Amortized 
Cost 

  

Fair Value 
Adjustment - 
Note 11(a)  

Total 

Borrowings, discounted receivables and portfolios acquired 10,002,735  10,821,637  20,824,372  11,501,919  13,655,549  25,157,468 

Financing 10,561,751  4,531,369  15,093,120  12,935,529  329,347  13,264,876 

Rural and agro-industrial financing 881,104  25,828  906,932  1,273,371  27,476  1,300,847 

Real estate loans 647,417  12,760  660,177  861,604  19,885  881,489 

Advances on foreign exchange contracts 913,040  -  913,040  1,077,836  -  1,077,836 

Onlending BNDES/FINAME 6,115,590  -  6,115,590  7,877,604  -  7,877,604 

Direct consumer credit and leases 491,751  4,668,624  5,160,375  220,365  5,945,124  6,165,489 

 Direct consumer credit -  3,711,976  3,711,976  -  5,376,433  5,376,433 

 Lease 491,751  956,648  1,448,399  220,365  568,691  789,056 

Other credits -  30,962  30,962  -  56,351  56,351 

Total transactions with credit granting characteristics 29,613,388  20,091,180  49,704,568  35,748,228  20,033,732  55,781,960 

Past due (1) 831,298  1,061,154  1,892,452  630,855  742,682  1,373,537 

Not past due (2) 28,782,090  19,030,026  47,812,116  35,117,373  19,291,050  54,408,423 

Impairment ñ Amortized cost (766,732)  -  (766,732)  (430,666)  -  (430,666) 

Adjustment at fair value - Note 11(a) -  (1,389,121)  (1,389,121)  -  (775,644)  (775,644) 

 Credit risk -  (1,106,343)  (1,106,343)  -  (674,120)  (674,120) 

 Market risk -  (282,778)  (282,778)  -  (101,524)  (101,524) 

Total 28,846,656  18,702,059  47,548,715     35,317,562      19,258,088      54,575,650  
(1) Past due  ñ transactions that have installments more than 14 days past due.  (2) Not past due ñ transactions not in arrears and/or installments no more than 14 days past due. 

The changes in market conditions, which give rise to the adjustment at fair value, include changes in observable interest rates, commodity prices, exchange rates or price indices ñ Note 22(a). 
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c) Credit portfolio by risk rating and losses and adjustments for credit risk 

I ñ Breakdown of portfolio by maturity: 

  12.31.2015 

 Credit portfolio  
Impairment 

 Fair Value 
Adjustment 

 
Total 

  Past due  Not past 
due 

 Total    

  Borrowings, discounted receivables and portfolios acquired 1,105,315  19,719,057  20,824,372  (423,962)  (911,914)  (1,335,876) 

  Financing 38,074  15,055,046  15,093,120  (50,037)  (25,750)  (75,787) 

  Rural and agro-industrial financing 1,495  905,437  906,932  (2,811)  (614)  (3,425) 

  Real estate loans 7,104  653,073  660,177  (10,284)  (181)  (10,465) 

  Advances on foreign exchange contracts 92,695  820,345  913,040  (79,189)  -  (79,189) 

  Onlending BNDES/FINAME 327,962  5,787,628  6,115,590  (192,166)  -  (192,166) 

  Direct consumer credit and leases 290,636  4,869,739  5,160,375  (8,283)  (138,655)  (146,938) 

   Direct consumer credit 235,661  3,476,315  3,711,976  -  (116,692)  (116,692) 

   Lease 54,975  1,393,424  1,448,399  (8,283)  (21,963)  (30,246) 

  Other credits 29,171  1,791  30,962  -  (29,229)  (29,229) 

Total at 12.31.2015 1,892,452  47,812,116  49,704,568  (766,732)  (1,106,343)  (1,873,075) 

Total at 12.31.2014 1,373,537  54,408,423  55,781,960  (430,666)  (674,120)  (1,104,786) 

II ñ Change in loss and adjustment at fair value 

  01.01 to 12.31.2015 

 
Balance at the beginning of 

the period 
 

Recognition/ (reversal) 
 

Write-offs 
 Balance at the end of the 

period    

Amortized Cost (430,666)  (571,027)  234,961  (766,732) 

     Borrowings, discounted receivables and portfolios acquired (188,694)  (361,792)  126,524  (423,962) 

     Rural, agro-industrial and real estate financing  (61,501)  (18,200)  16,569  (63,132) 

     Advances on foreign exchange contracts (18,342)  (60,847)  -  (79,189) 

     Onlending BNDES/FINAME (161,003)  (122,220)  91,057  (192,166) 

     Lease (1,126)  (7,968)  811  (8,283) 

Fair Value (674,120)  (1,065,737)  633,514  (1,106,343) 

     Borrowings, discounted receivables and portfolios acquired (537,122)  (829,736)  454,944  (911,914) 

     Rural, agro-industrial and real estate financing (4,084)  (24,981)  2,520  (26,545) 

     Direct consumer credit and leases (128,259)  (108,379)  97,983  (138,655) 

     Direct consumer credit (115,868)  (88,509)  87,685  (116,692) 

     Finance lease (12,391)  (19,870)  10,298  (21,963) 

     Other credits (4,655)  (102,641)  78,067  (29,229) 

Total (1,104,786)  (1,636,764)  868,475  (1,873,075) 

 01,01 a 31,12,2014 
 Amortized Cost            (349,625)   (372,077)       291,036  (430,666) 

Fair Value           (822,146)               (694,687)         842,713              (674,120)  

Total         (1,171,771)             (1,066,764)     1,133,749           (1,104,786) 
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d) Renegotiated transactions and credit recovery 

The balance of renegotiated credit operations totals R$ 696,446 (R$ 441,230 at 12.31.2014), which allowance amounts to  R$ (453,136) 

(R$ (293,426) at 12.31.2014). The credit recoveries over the period amounted to R$ 362,503 (R$ 276,178 in 2014). 

e) Breakdown by maturity 

  12.31.2015   12.31.2014 

  

Amortized 
Cost 

 

Designated 
at fair value 

 
Total 

 

Amortized 
Cost 

 

Designated 
at fair value 

  
Total 

PAST DUE 831,298  1,061,154  1,892,452  630,855  742,682  1,373,537 

            
Past due operations:            

   From 15 to 30 days 230,085  231,750  461,835  328,543  213,325  541,868 

   From 31 to 60 days 202,918  215,417  418,335  105,879  140,868  246,747 

   From 61 to 90 days 138,354  131,906  270,260  65,861  106,479  172,340 

   From 91 to 180 days 184,307  320,135  504,442  71,718  143,879  215,597 

   From 181 to 365 days 75,634  161,946  237,580  58,854  138,131  196,985 

            
NOT PAST DUE 28,782,090  19,030,026  47,812,116  35,117,373  19,291,050  54,408,423 

            

Past due up to 14 days: 66,379  158,293  224,672  34,925  103,176  138,101 

            
Falling due:            

   From 1 to 30 days 2,749,835  3,737,247  6,487,082  3,390,536  4,791,234  8,181,770 

   From 31 to 60 days 2,576,070  1,813,066  4,389,136  3,012,539  2,373,440  5,385,979 

   From 61 to 90 days 2,013,242  1,552,224  3,565,466  2,732,078  2,031,518  4,763,596 

   From 91 to 180 days 4,584,998  2,509,419  7,094,417  6,203,781  2,980,040  9,183,821 

   From 181 to 365 days 4,310,841  3,791,265  8,102,106  6,116,669  2,806,791  8,923,460 

   Over 365 days 12,480,725  5,468,512  17,949,237  13,626,845  4,204,851  17,831,696 

TOTAL 29,613,388  20,091,180  49,704,568  35,748,228  20,033,732  55,781,960 

The balance of transactions more than 90 days past due amounts to R$ 742,022 (R$ 412,582 at 12.31.2014). 

f) Breakdown of portfolio by sector 

  12.31.2015   12.31.2014 

Private Sector:    

Industry 14,895,953  14,383,680 

Commerce 9,282,143  14,019,345 

Financial institutions 706,138  222,026 

Other services 14,160,446  17,532,383 

Individuals 6,683,827  5,493,880 

Rural / Housing 3,976,061  4,130,646 

Total 49,704,568  55,781,960 

g) Credit concentration 

  12.31.2015   12.31.2014 

  1st to 10th largest customers 7,468,967  5,989,051 

  11th to 50th largest customers 7,742,415  7,411,623 

  51st to 100th largest customers 4,913,684  4,774,869 

100 largest customers 20,125,066  18,175,543 

Other customers 29,579,502  37,606,417 

Total 49,704,568  55,781,960 
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h) Credit commitments (off-balance) 

The off-balance amounts related to financial guarantee contracts are as follows: 

    12.31.2015   12.31.2014 

Guarantees, sureties and other guarantees provided (1) (2)  19,177,452  16,431,679 

Granted limits (3)  12,398,872  10,430,758 

Total  31,576,324  26,862,437 

Contractual term:     

  Falling due in up to 90 days  12,694,801  12,014,285 

  Falling due from 91 to 365 days  7,777,709  5,025,367 

  Falling due after 365 days  11,103,814  9,822,785 
(1) The amount of the allowance for Guarantees, sureties and other guarantees provided is R$ (190,738) (R$ (164,833) at 12.31.2014) ñ 

Note 13. 
(2) The guarantees provided generate an income amounting to R$ 230,167 (R$ 154,672 in 2014) ñ Note 14(f). 

(3) Refer to credit limits granted but not used, characterized by the option for cancellation by Safra, with the average term of 90 days. 

i) Present value of lease operations 

The table below shows the analysis of the present value of future minimum payments receivable from finance leases: 

    12.31.2015 

    

Future minimum 
payments  

Unearned income 
 

Present value 

Current  114,336  2,769  117,105 

Non-current  1,577,471  (246,177)  1,331,294 

Total ñ Note 9(b)  1,691,807  (243,408)  1,448,399 

   12.31.2014 

   

Future minimum 
payments  

Unearned income 
 

Present value 

Current  25,196  (1,189)  24,007 

Non-current  875,913  (110,864)  765,049 

Total ñ Note 9(b)  901,109  (112,053)  789,056 
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10 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND MANAGED ASSETS 

  12.31.2015   12.31.2014 

 
At amortized 

cost At fair value Total  
At amortized 

cost At fair value Total 

Funds from customers 44,545,199 6,765,781 51,310,980  50,485,017 3,657,501 54,142,518 

Deposits (1) 4,840,176 2,991,527 7,831,703  5,863,707 998,680 6,862,387 

Open market funding - own securities 16,848,239 322,303 17,170,542  19,452,826 330,323 19,783,149 

Funds from acceptance and issue of securities ñ Funds from financial bills, bills of credit and similar 

notes (2) 18,488,438 2,458,606 20,947,044  20,847,301 1,531,041 22,378,342 

Fixed income structured transactions 4,368,346 993,345 5,361,691  4,321,183 797,457 5,118,640 

    Fixed income structured transactions(3) 2,608,809 993,345 3,602,154  3,627,492 797,457 4,424,949 

    Certificate of fixed income structured transactions (4) 1,759,537 - 1,759,537  693,691 - 693,691 

Funds from the market  4,579,759 6,263,219 10,842,978  5,108,733 4,739,072 9,847,805 

Deposits 2,017,049 - 2,017,049  2,791,380 4,006 2,795,386 

    Deposits from financial institutions 787,202 - 787,202  1,343,950 4,006 1,347,956 

    Time deposits 1,229,847 - 1,229,847  1,447,430 - 1,447,430 

Funds from acceptance and issue of securities ñ Liabilities for marketable securities issued abroad 186,457 2,894,047 3,080,504  277,240 2,440,275 2,717,515 

Subordinated debt 2,376,253 3,369,172 5,745,425  2,040,113 2,294,791 4,334,904 

Borrowings and onlending 16,621,514 - 16,621,514  16,810,825 - 16,810,825 

Total funding 65,746,472 13,029,000 78,775,472  72,404,575 8,396,573 80,801,148 

 Open market funding (5) 48,491,736 - 48,491,736  42,369,250 - 42,369,250 

 Consolidated private pension funds (6)   6,301,237    4,529,449 

 Managed funds ñ Note 10(c)   47,107,703    36,088,553 

Total managed assets   180,676,148 

  
   163,788,400 

(1)  It does not include time deposits with the market and interbank deposits. (2)  It does not include certificate of structured operations.  (3)  Of this amount, R$ 2,608,809 (R$ 3,627,492 at 12.31.2014) are 

recorded in derivative financial instruments - Note 8(b-I(1)). (4)  Recorded in funds from acceptance and issue of securities. (5)  It does not include own securities. (6)  Recorded in liabilities with insurance and 

private pension operations ñ Note 12(b). 

 
a) Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 

I.  Deposits 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

  

  No stated 
maturity 

 Up to 90 days  From 91 to 
365 days 

 Over 365 days   
Total 

  
Total 

Demand deposits  605,296  -  -  -  605,296  894,237 

Savings deposits  1,766,877  -  -  -  1,766,877  1,655,929 

Time deposits  -  416,677  994,198  1,057,128  2,468,003  3,313,541 

Total at 12.31.2015   2,372,173  416,677  994,198  1,057,128  4,840,176  5,863,707 

Total at 12.31.2014  2,550,166  405,939  2,132,910  774,692  5,863,707   
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2) Movements 

a) Funds from financial bills, bills of credit and similar notes 

  01.01 to 12.31.2015  01.01 to 12.31.2014 

Balance at the beginning of the period  23,072,033  17,682,138 

  Funding  11,525,857  16,643,170 

  Redemptions  (14,736,791)  (13,372,079) 

  Appropriation to profit ñ Interest ñ Note 14(b)  2,845,482  2,118,804 

Balance at the end of the period  22,706,581  23,072,033 

At amortized cost ñ Note 10  20,247,975  21,540,992 

At fair value on initial recognition - Note 10(b)  2,458,606  1,531,041 

b) Liabilities for marketable securities issued abroad 

  01.01 to 12.31.2015  01.01 to 12.31.2014 

Balance at the beginning of the period  2,717,515  2,293,037 

  Foreign exchange gains and losses  510,712  (209,858) 

  Funding  2,124  1,428,254 

  Redemptions  (168,791)  (827,229) 

  Interest paid  (172,041)  (125,931) 

  Appropriation to profit                  190,985   159,242 

     Interest - Note14(b)                  173,586   156,563 

     Change in fair value adjustment - Note 11(b)  17,399   2,679 

Balance at the end of the period             3,080,504   2,717,515 

At amortized cost ñ Note 10  186,457  277,240 

At fair value on initial recognition - Note 10(b)  2,894,047  2,440,275 

IV.  Borrowings and onlending 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

   Up to 90 days  From 91 to 365 days  Over 365 days  Total  Total 

Foreign borrowings (1)  7,904,563  1,931,805  242,515  10,078,883      8,284,416 

Domestic onlending  1,076,976  1,643,707  3,460,116  6,180,799  8,025,622 

National Treasury  41,836  90,958  7,917  140,711  146,284 

BNDES  255,169  378,357  801,576  1,435,102  1,668,217 

FINAME  779,971  1,174,392  2,650,623  4,604,986  6,211,121 

Other borrowings  361,832  -  -  361,832  500,787 

Total at 12.31.2015  9,343,371  3,575,512  3,702,631  16,621,514  16,810,825 

Total at 12.31.2014  7,869,655  4,373,889  4,567,281  16,810,825   
(1)  Credit facilities for financing imports and exports. 
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V.  Subordinated debt 
(1) Breakdown of balance by security and rate 

Securities/Rates  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

  Bank Deposit Certificates (CDB) - 106% of the CDI (1)  699,738  699,215 

  Financial bills (LF)  1,676,515  1,340,898 

       - Interbank Deposit Certificate (CDI) (110.5% to 114%)  786,107  661,824 

       - IGPM + (interest from 3.89% p.a. to 6.68% p.a.)  7,379  6,385 

       - IPCA + (interest from 4.43% p.a. to 8.75% p.a.)  872,413  672,689 

       - Selic  10,616  - 

Subtotal - amortized cost  2,376,253  2,040,113 

  Medium term notes  3,333,232  2,270,032 

       - US$ 300,000 to 7.00% p.a. - Note23(c)  1,174,187  794,664 

       - US$ 500,000 to 6.75% p.a.  2,159,045  1,475,368 

  Financial bills ñ LF - Fixed (10.92% p.a. to 14.25% p.a.)  35,940  24,759 

Subtotal - fair value  3,369,172  2,294,791 

Total (2)  5,745,425  4,334,904 
(1)  Of the amount issued, R$ 1,431 (R$ 1,430 at 12.31.2014) is in the portfolio. (2)  Operations with bi-annual and quarterly interest payments. 

(2) Breakdown of balance by characteristic and maturity  

Securities  Perpetual  2016  2019  2020  2021  2022  2024  2025  Total 

Approved  1,174,187  1,128,193  624,492  184,514  2,417,376  4,790  58,147  1,861  5,593,560 

    Without termination clause  -  1,128,193  559,523  34,305  2,159,045  3,729  -  -  3,884,795 

    With termination clause  1,174,187  -  64,969  150,209  258,331  1,061  58,147  1,861  1,708,765 

In process of approval  -  -  -  17,883  16,462  86,073  -  31,447  151,865 

    With termination clause  -  -  -  17,883  16,462  86,073  -  31,447  151,865 

Total at 12.31.2015  1,174,187  1,128,193   624,492   202,397   2,433,838   90,863   58,147   33,308  5,745,425 

Total at 12.31.2014  794,664  1,091,959  539,881  156,738  1,697,601  4,148  49,913  -  4,334,904 

(3) Movements 

  01.01 to 12.31.2015  01.01 to 12.31.2014 
 Balance at the beginning of the period  4,334,904  2,914,559 

Foreign exchange gains and losses  1,060,000  303,743 
Funding 
 

 140,798  993,559 
   Perpetual                                 -     660,750 
   Other  140,798  332,809 
Interest paid  (310,901)  (205,283) 
Appropriation to profit or loss  520,624  328,326 
   Interest - Note 14(b)  526,622  331,879 
   Change in fair value adjustment - Note 11(b)  (5,998)  (3,553) 
Balance at the end of the period  5,745,425  4,334,904 
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b) Financial liabilities at fair value on initial recognition - Note 11 

   12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

   
Up to 90 

days 
 
From 91 to 
365 days 

 
Over 365 

days 
 Total  Total 

Funds from acceptance and issue of securities ñ 
Liabilities for marketable securities issued abroad 

 
135,801  698,024  2,060,222  2,894,047  2,440,275 

     R$ 800,000-08.08.2012-Fixed (10.25% p.a.)  32,049  641,311  -  673,360  719,146 

     R$ 300,000-04.05.2007- Fixed (10.75% p.a.)  -  -  265,994  265,994  265,812 

     CHF 450,000 ñ 03.27 and 12.12.2014 - Fixed (1.5% p.a. to 1.85% 
p.a.) 

 
-  -  1,691,651  1,691,651  1,227,809 

     US$ 71,470 ñ 12.2010 to 11.2012 - Fixed (4.0% p.a. to 5,0% p.a.)  103,752  56,713  102,577  263,042  227,508 

Time deposits ñ Structured Defined Contribution (CD)  -  78,240  1,822,237  1,900,477  918,640 

Subordinated debt ñ Medium term notes ñ Note 10(a-V)  -  -  3,333,232  3,333,232  2,270,032 

Financial liabilities ñ fixed transactions  996,736  2,367,783  1,536,725  4,901,244  2,767,626 

Time deposits  153,807  653,562  283,681  1,091,050  80,040 

Deposits from financial institutions and open market funding  154,852  144,022  23,429  322,303  334,329 

Fixed income structured transactions  192,749  676,692  123,904  993,345  797,457 

Funds from acceptance and issue of securities ñ Funds from 
financial bills, bills of credit and similar notes 

 495,328  893,507  1,069,771  2,458,606  1,531,041 

    Financial bills  92,833  452,973  928,753  1,474,559  1,022,253 

    Agribusiness credit notes  345,674  303,747  98,511  747,932  311,682 

    Mortgage bills  13,993  13,583  2,387  29,963  14,533 

    House loan bills  42,828  123,204  40,120  206,152  182,573 

Subordinated debt ñ LF Fixed (10.92% to 14.25% p.a.) ñ Note 10(a-
V) 

 
-  -  35,940  35,940  24,759 

Total at 12.31.2015   1,132,537  3,144,047  8,752,416  13,029,000  8,396,573 

Total at 12.31.2014  599,988  1,051,201  6,745,384  8,396,573   

c) Managed assets 

The Safra Group, together with JS Administração de Recursos S.A. (related party), is responsible for the management, administration and 

distribution of investment fund quotas, as follows:  

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

Managed funds (1)  47,107,703  36,088,553 

Funds of investment in quotas  40,422,427  30,786,828 

Consolidated exclusive funds  4,662,628   5,332,527 

Consolidated private pension ñ Note 10   6,301,237  4,529,449 

Total net worth of funds   98,493,995  76,737,357 
(1) In Banco Safra S.A., it includes open-market funding related to repurchase agreements backed by government securities amounting to R$ 

7,709,816 (R$ 3,233,692 at 12.31.2014), funds from acceptance and issue of securities (financial bills) amounting to R$ 706,704 (R$ 

603,886 at 12.31.2014) and subordinated debt (bank deposit certificate and financial bills) amounting to R$ 153,764 (R$ 152,546 at 

12.31.2014) ñ Note 23(c). 

 

Revenue from management, administration and distribution of such fund quotas, recorded in 'Fees and commissions', totals R$ 504,142 (R$ 

321,528 in 2014) ñ Note 14(f). When the income from related parties is included, the amount is R$ 610,563 (R$ 365,047 in 2014) ñ Note 

23(c).  
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11 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE ON INITIAL RECOGNITION 

The transactions that are designated at fair value on initial recognition are those with credit granting characteristics and funding carried out at fixed rates in Brazilian reais and foreign currencies, for which derivatives 

are purchased to eliminate the risk of interest rate fluctuation, once there is a mismatch of amounts and terms between the total asset and liability transactions at fixed rates. The measurement at fair value of 

derivatives purchased to eliminate the risk of mismatch of assets and liabilities at fixed rates could cause an accounting misstatement, if the hedged assets and liabilities were not measured at fair value. Taking this 

mismatching into consideration, the form of management of the assets and liabilities portfolios purchased at fixed rates and the strategy adopted by Safra for risk management, Management decided to designate such 

assets and liabilities purchased at fixed rates at fair value through profit or loss. 

a) Breakdown of assets and liabilities 

 12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

  Fair value adjustment     Fair value adjustment   

 
Cost 

Fair value 
adjustment Fair value Cost 

Notional of 
derivatives(3) 

 
Cost 

Fair value 
adjustment Fair value Cost 

Notional of 
derivatives(3) 

Net fixed rate portfolio 15,189,936 (1,106,343) (282,778) 13,800,815 (12,896,018)  17,266,106 (674,120) (101,524) 16,490,462 (15,895,176) 

Credit operations - Note 9(a)  20,091,180 - -    20,033,732 - -   

 Financial liabilities at fair value on initial recognition - Note 
10(b) (4,901,244) - -    (2,767,626) - -   

Adjustment to the risk ñ Note 9(a)  - (1,106,343) (282,778)    - (674,120) (101,524)   

Liabilities for marketable securities issued abroad - Note 
10(b) (2,874,903) - (19,144) (2,894,047) 3,343,484  (2,436,689) - (3,586) (2,440,275) 2,591,173 

Time deposits ñ Structured Defined Contribution (CD) ñ 
Note10(b) (1,913,561) - 13,084 (1,900,477) 2,465,350  (935,611) - 16,971 (918,640) 906,283 

Subordinated debt ñ Medium term notes ñ Note 10(b) (3,182,814) - (150,418) (3,333,232) 3,333,306  (2,164,614) - (105,418) (2,270,032) 2,274,605 

Total  7,218,658 (1,106,343) (439,256) 5,673,059 (3,753,878)  11,729,192 (674,120) (193,557) 10,861,515 (10,123,115) 
(1) The credit risk of credit operations was measured based on managementís best estimates to determine the portfolio value in view of its credit loss level ñ Note 22(a). The change in credit risk is shown in Note 9(c-II). 
(2) The market risk of credit operations and funding at fixed rates, which is the possibility of financial loss arising from changes in market interest rates, is measured using the market interest rates effective at the 

calculation base date, to discount the cash flows of transactions to present value. The change in market risk is shown in Note 11(b). 
(3) The notional amount of derivatives purchased to eliminate the risk of interest rate fluctuation. 

b) Developments of fair value adjustment (market risk) 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

  
Opening 
balance 

Fair value 

adjustment (1) 
Foreign 

exchange 

Closing 
balance  

Opening 
balance 

Fair value 

adjustment (1) 
Foreign 

exchange 

Closing 
balance 

Net fixed rate portfolio  (101,524) (181,769) 515 (282,778)  (80,307)          (21,217) - (101,524) 

Liabilities for marketable securities issued abroad  (3,586) (17,399) 1,841 (19,144)  (6,187) (2,679) 5,280 (3,586) 

Time deposits ñ Structured Defined Contribution (CD) ñ Note 11(a)  16,971 (8,865) 4,978 13,084  - 16,971 - 16,971 

Subordinated debt - Note 10(a-V(3))  (105,418) 5,998 (50,998) (150,418)  (94,386) 3,553 (14,585) (105,418) 

TOTAL  (193,557) (202,035) (43,664) (439,256)  (180,880) (3,372) (9,305) (193,557) 
(1) Note 8(c) and 14(d). 
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12 INSURANCE, REINSURANCE AND PRIVATE PENSION OPERATIONS 

a) Receivables from insurance and reinsurance operations 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

Receivables  34,125  32,577 

   Premiums receivable - Note 12(a-I)  28,698  23,750 

   Risks in force but not issued  589  3,367 

   Operating receivables from insurance and reinsurance  12,302  10,491 

   Credit risk  (7,464)  (5,031) 

Reinsurance technical reserves - Note 10(a-II)  15,730  15,618 

Deferred acquisition costs  7,644  2,599 

Redeemable investments in pension funds   -  165 

Total ñ Note 13  57,499  50,959 

I.  Premiums receivable 

(1)  Breakdown 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

  PAST DUE (1)  NOT PAST (2) 

DUE 

 TOTAL  TOTAL 

  Past due:  2,391  3,025  5,416  2,999 

      From 1 to 30 days  338  2,518  2,856  1,243 

      From 31 to 60 days  411  507  918  550 

      From 61 to 120 days  485  -  485  224 

      From 121 to 180 days  23  -  23  20 

      From 181 to 365 days  117  -  117  120 

      Over 365 days  1,017  -  1,017  842 

  Falling due:  652  22,630  23,282  20,751 

      From 1 to 30 days  217  7,172  7,389  7,153 

      From 31 to 60 days  168  4,632  4,800  3,266 

      From 61 to 120 days  173  6,757  6,930  6,117 

      From 121 to 180 days  74  3,173  3,247  3,478 

      From 181 to 365 days  20  896  916  737 

TOTAL  3,043   25,655   28,698   23,750 

  Apólices Vencidas:  3.043 

      From 61 to 120 days  1.762 

      From 181 to 365 days  224 

      Over 365 days  1.057 

 (1) Past due  ñ transactions that have installments more than 14 days past due.  
 (2) Not past due ñ transactions not in arrears and/or installments no more than 14 days past due. 

(2)  Changes during the period 

  01.01 to 12.31.2015  01.01 to 12.31.2014 

Balance at the beginning of the period 26,144  34,004 

(+) Written premiums and risks in force not yet issued (1) (2) 237,475  197,322 

(-) Receipts (2) (239,707)  (209,246) 

(+)  Changes in credit risks (839)  102 

(+)  Interest on receipt of premiums 3,171  3,962 

Balance at the end of the period 26,244  26,144 
(1) Includes amounts to be passed on of coinsurance premium of R$ 5,595 (R$ 6,773 at 12.31.2014) and reinsurance premium 

of R$ 10,841 (R$ 6,942 at 12.31.2014). (2) Does not include DPVAT of R$ 82,706 (R$ 75,815 at 12.31.2014). 

II.  Reinsurance assets - technical reserve 

(1)  Changes during the period 

  01.01 to 12.31.2015 

  
Unearned 
premium 
reserve 

 
Outstanding 

claims (1) 
 IBNR  TOTAL 

Balance at the beginning of the 

period 
 3,224  11,783  611  15,618 

  Changes in technical reserves  2,694  558  (71)  3,181 

  Recovery  -  (2,490)  -  (2,490) 

  Monetary restatement  -  (573)  (6)  (579) 

Balance at the end of the period  5,918  9,278  534  15,730 
(1) Includes 18 (29 at 12.31.2014) legal claims of R$ 6,387 (R$ 7,467 at 12.31.2014). 
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b) Funds guaranteeing technical reserves 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

Quotas of investment funds - PGBL/VGBL 6,301,237  4,529,449 

     Open market investments - Repurchase agreements ñ Debentures - Note  6 42,641  107,769 

     Financial assets - Note 8(a-II) 6,258,935  4,427,095 

Private securities 685,953  689,659 

         Bank Deposit Certificates (CDB) (1) 44,267  134,271 

         Financial bills  602,173  453,469 

         Debentures  5,260  5,448 

         Shares  34,253  46,937 

         Promissory note  -  49,534 

 Government securities - National Treasury  5,572,982  3,737,436 

         National Treasury Bills (LTN)  1,206,323  651,437 

         Financial Treasury Bills (LFTs)  2,830,019  903,047 

         National Treasury Notes (NTNs)  1,536,640  2,182,952 

 Quotas of investment funds ñ FIDIC ñ Note 8(a-II)  1,397  2,298 

 Other  (1,736)  (7,713) 

Other securities ñ Financial assets ñ Note 8(a-II)  283,820  256,670 

    Quotas of funds ñ Subject to Technical Reserve  177,617  176,666 

               Government securities - National Treasury Bills  175,676  174,828 

                  National Treasury Bills (LTN)  164,606  174,828 

                  Financial Treasury Bills (LFTs)  11,070  - 

               Other  1,941  1,838 

        Quotas of investment funds - DPVAT agreement  106,203  80,004 

Receivables from reinsurance operations ñ Note 12(a) (1)  9,812  12,394 

Creditor rights - Insurance premium receivables  11,121  10,508 

Total  6,605,990  4,809,021 
(1) At 12.31.2015, the amount presented is net of unearned premium reserve in the amount of R$ (5,918) (R$ (3,224) at 12.31.2014) ñ Note 12(a-II(1)). 

c) Insurance and private pension operations (liabilities) 

The private pension and insurance operations were as follows: 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

Technical reserves - Note  12(c-I(1))  6,545,148  4,730,077 

Operating payables of insurance and reinsurance  15,491  7,905 

Commissions and other insurance liabilities  12,182  5,032 

Total  6,572,821  4,743,014 
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I. Technical reserves 

(1) Breakdown 

  INSURANCE  PENSION PLAN  TOTAL 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014  12.31.2015  12.31.2014  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

Mathematical reserve for unvested and vested benefits  -  -  6,301,389  4,529,399  6,301,389  4,529,399 

Unearned premium reserves  104,298  79,449  -  -  104,298  79,449 

Outstanding claims  19,406  19,664  -  -  19,406  19,664 

DPVAT agreement  106,173  79,972  -  -  106,173  79,972 

Incurred but not reported losses (IBNR)  2,099  2,327  -  -  2,099  2,327 

Supplementary coverage ñ Note 12(c-I(4)) (1)  4,867  -  5,361  17,183  10,228  17,183 

Related Expenses (PDR)  30  -  1,422  1,239  1,452  1,239 

Redemptions to be calculated  -  -  103  844  103  844 

Total  236,873  181,412  6,308,275  4,548,665  6,545,148  4,730,077 
(1) Amount resulting from the Liability Adequacy Test (LAT), performed in 12.31.2015 ñ Note 3(o-IV). 

(2) Coverage 

  12.31.2015  12.31.2014 

 Funds guaranteeing technical reserves of insurance and pension plan - Note 12(b)  6,605,990  4,809,021 

 Technical reserves  (6,545,148)         (4,730,077) 

Coverage surplus (shortage)  60,842  78,944 

(3) Changes in the mathematical provision for private pension plans 

  01.01 to 12.31.2015  01.01 to 12.31.2014 

Balance at the beginning of the period  4,548,665  3,472,528 

  Contributions  539,663  471,194 

  Net transfers accepted  987,205  690,465 

  Redemptions  (385,423)  (470,723) 

  Benefits paid  (235)  (222) 

  Financial restatement  630,039  384,505 

  Change in reserves  (11,639)  918 

Balance at the end of the period  6,308,275  4,548,665 
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d) Income from insurance and private pension plan operations 

  2015  2014 

Income from financial intermediation  36,482  23,766 

     Investment income from insurance and private pension operations  666,521  408,271 

     Investment expenses from insurance and private pension operations  (630,039)  (384,505) 

Income from insurance, reinsurance and private pension operations  (1)  155,643  153,498 

     Retained premium income, net  196,191  181,388 

         Premium income ñ Note 14 (g)   220,244  183,607 

         Change in technical reserves  (24,053)  (2,219) 

     Claims expenses  (2,625)  (2,330) 

     Selling expenses ñ Note 18(c)  (15,943)  (26,509) 

     Contingent liabilities reinsurance ñ Note 15(d)  (30,000)  - 

     Credit risk  (2,433)  (1,999) 

     Change in supplementary contribution (PCC) and related expense (PDR) reserves  6,742  (919) 

     Other income and expenses (1)  3,711  3,867 

Income from private pension management fund services(2)  54,042  35,510 

Total  246,167  212,774 
(1) Includes the net result of the DPVAT agreement. 
(2) Includes income from related party transactions ñ Note 23(c). 
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e) Claims development table 

The purpose of the claims development table is to illustrate the inherent insurance risk, comparing the claims paid with their respective reserves, from the year in which the claim was reported. The upper part 

of the table shows the change in the reserve over the years. The reserve varies as more precise information on ratio and severity of claims is obtained. The lower part of the shows the reconciliation of the 

amounts with the account balances. The reserve for outstanding claims gross of reinsurance is comprised as follows: 

Reserve for outstanding claims: R$ 57,336 

(-) DPVAT Operations: R$ 37,930 

(-) DPVAT Operations - category 3 and 4 run-off, according to SUSEP Circular 395/2009: R$ 40 

Reserve for outstanding claims, gross of reinsurance: R$ 19,366 

Estimates of claims 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Total 

   In the year of the claim 8,885 5,374 5,237 4,759 5,566 6,885 6,296 5,510 10,268 17,748 4,647  - 

   One year after 7,361 5,339 4,709 4,323 4,978 6,829 5,351 3,840 11,536 19,882 - - 
   Two years after 7,237 5,054 4,465 4,220 3,498 5,924 5,292 3,946 11,823 - - - 
   Three years after 7,158 4,973 4,465 4,216 3,735 5,939 5,399 3,972 - - - - 
   Four years after 7,507 5,028 4,473 4,216 3,570 6,460 5,324 - - - - - 
   Five years after 7,442 4,821 4,487 4,216 3,900 6,720 - - - - - - 
   Six years later 7,500 5,735 4,472 4,378 3,954 - - - - - - - 
   Seven years later 7,751 4,262 4,495 4,386 - - - - - - - - 
   Eight years later 7,796 4,817 4,493 - - - - - - - - - 
   Nine years later 9,019 4,818  - - - - - - - - - - 
   Ten years later 9,264 -  - - - - - - - - - - 
Estimate at 12.31.2015 9,264 4,818 4,493 4,386 3,954 6,720 5,324 3,972 11,823 19,882 4,647 79,283 

Payment of claims             

   In the year of the claim 2,916 2,697 2,797 3,130 1,775 3,872 3,291 1,917 4,999 16,179 1,917  - 

   One year after 4,938 4,086 4,251 4,012 2,472 5,095 4,552 3,640 9,026 19,165 - - 
   Two years after 5,262 4,098 4,279 4,016 3,145 5,483 4,595 3,773 9,046 - - - 
   Three years after 5,262 4,099 4,287 4,016 3,391 5,508 5,091 3,836 - - - - 
   Four years after 5,262 4,209 4,458 4,016 3,393 5,803 5,187 - - - - - 
   Five years after 5,262 4,210 4,458 4,017 3,395 6,097 - - - - - - 
   Six years later 5,264 4,233 4,461 4,313 3,396 - - - - - - - 
   Seven years later 5,536 4,628 4,486 4,313 - - - - - - - - 
   Eight years later 5,642 4,814 4,493 - - - - - - - - - 
   Nine years later 5,642 4,815  - - - - - - - - - - 
   Ten years later 5,642 -  - - - - - - - - - - 
Payment at 12.31.2015 5,642 4,815 4,493 4,313 3,396 6,097 5,187 3,836 9,046 19,165 1,917 67,907 

Reserve for outstanding claims at 12.31.2015 3,622 3 0 73 558 623 137 136 2,777 717 2,730 11,376 

     Liabilities of claims prior to 2005   7,990   

     Total Liabilities at 12.31.2015   19,366   

Differences between final and initial estimates (379) 556 744 373 1.612 165 972 1.538 (1.555) (2.134) -  

Differences between final and initial estimates (%) -4% 12% 17% 9% 41% 2% 18% 39% -13% -11% 0%  
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The reserve for outstanding claims net of reinsurance comprise the following: 

Reserve for outstanding claims: R$ 19,366 

(-) Recovery of outstanding claims: R$ 9,278 

Reserve for outstanding claims: R$ 10,088 

Estimates of claims 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Total 

   In the year of the claim 3,646 2,187 1,486 1,279 1,650 2,344 2,462 2,009 2.823 6.718 2.523 - 
   One year after 3,445 2,552 1,358 1,175 1,531 2,344 2,046 1,577 2.299 7.710 - - 
   Two years after 3,326 2,521 1,227 1,155 1,346 2,067 2,024 1,520 2.329 - - - 
   Three years after 3,247 2,435 1,227 1,151 1,480 2,056 2,174 1,405 - - - - 
   Four years after 3,215 2,460 1,212 1,152 1,405 2,376 2,048 - - - - - 
   Five years after 3,169 2,444 1,226 1,151 1,863 2,571 - - - - - - 
   Six years later 2,989 2,409 1,207 1,487 1,910 - - - - - - - 
   Seven years later 3,000 2,400 1,225 1,494 - - - - - - - - 
   Eight years later 3,044 2,541 1,223 - - - - - - - - - 
   Nine years later 3,375 2,541  - - - - - - - - - - 
   Ten years later 6,257 -  - - - - - - - - - - 
Estimate at 12.31.2015 6,257 2,541 1,223 1,494 1,910 2,571 2,048 1,405 2.329 7.710 2.523 32.011 

Payment of claims             

   In the year of the claim 1,226 1,679 921 1,008 913 1,426 1,108 846 1.211 6.176 1.328 - 
   One year after 2,332 2,266 1,090 1,121 1,181 1,819 1,534 1,395 1.951 7.306 - - 
   Two years after 2,656 2,279 1,097 1,125 1,261 1,924 1,571 1,447 1.969 - - - 
   Three years after 2,656 2,279 1,105 1,125 1,365 1,948 2,031 1,333 - - - - 
   Four years after 2,656 2,331 1,188 1,125 1,367 2,229 1,920 - - - - - 
   Five years after 2,656 2,331 1,188 1,125 1,358 2,512 - - - - - - 
   Six years later 2,657 2,353 1,191 1,421 1,352 - - - - - - - 
   Seven years later 2,929 2,357 1,216 1,421 - - - - - - - - 
   Eight years later 3,022 2,538 1,223 - - - - - - - - - 
   Nine years later 3,022 2,538  - - - - - - - - - - 
   Ten years later 3,022 -  - - - - - - - - - - 
Payment at 12.31.2015 3,022 2,538 1,223 1,421 1,352 2,512 1,920 1,333 1.969 7.306 1.328 25.924 

Reserve for outstanding claims at 12.31.2015 3,235 3 0 73 558 59 128 72 360 404 1.195 6.087 

     Liabilities of claims prior to2005   4,001   

     Total Liabilities at 12.31.2015   10,088   

Differences between final and initial estimates (2,611) (354) 263 (215) (260) (227) 414 604 494 (992) -  

Differences between final and initial estimates (%) -42% -14% 22% -14% -14% -9% 20% 43% 21% -13% 0%  


























































